



The Infinitesimal Moduli Space of Heterotic G_2 Systems

Xenia de la Ossa¹, Magdalena Larfors², Eirik E. Svanes^{3,4}

- Mathematical Institute, Oxford University, Andrew Wiles Building, Woodstock Road, Oxford OX2 6GG, UK. E-mail: delaossa@maths.ox.ac.uk
- Department of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala University, 751 20 Uppsala, Sweden. E-mail: magdalena.larfors@physics.uu.se
- 3 CNRS, LPTHE, UPMC Paris 06, UMR 7589, Sorbonne Universités, 75005 Paris, France. E-mail: esvanes@lpthe.jussieu.fr
- ⁴ Institut Lagrange de Paris, Sorbonne Universités, 98 bis Bd Arago, 75014 Paris, France

Received: 13 June 2017 / Accepted: 7 September 2017

Published online: 15 November 2017 - © The Author(s) 2017. This article is an open access publication

Abstract: Heterotic string compactifications on integrable G_2 structure manifolds Y with instanton bundles (V, A), $(TY, \tilde{\theta})$ yield supersymmetric three-dimensional vacua that are of interest in physics. In this paper, we define a covariant exterior derivative \mathcal{D} and show that it is equivalent to a heterotic G_2 system encoding the geometry of the heterotic string compactifications. This operator \mathcal{D} acts on a bundle $\mathcal{Q} = T^*Y \oplus \operatorname{End}(V) \oplus \operatorname{End}(TY)$ and satisfies a nilpotency condition $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$, for an appropriate projection of \mathcal{D} . Furthermore, we determine the infinitesimal moduli space of these systems and show that it corresponds to the finite-dimensional cohomology group $\check{H}^1_{\check{\mathcal{D}}}(\mathcal{Q})$. We comment on the similarities and differences of our result with Atiyah's well-known analysis of deformations of holomorphic vector bundles over complex manifolds. Our analysis leads to results that are of relevance to all orders in the α' expansion.

Contents

1.	Introduction	728
2.	Background Material	730
	2.1 Manifolds with a G_2 structure	730
	2.2 Useful tools for deformation problems	735
	2.3 Application to manifolds with a G_2 structure	739
3.	Infinitesimal Deformations of Manifolds with an Integrable G_2 Structure.	740
	3.1 Equations for deformations that preserve an integrable G_2 structure	740
	3.2 A reformulation of the equations for deformations of G_2 structures	744
4.	Moduli Space of Instantons on Manifolds with G_2 Structure	747
5.	Infinitesimal Moduli of Heterotic G_2 Systems	752
	5.1 The heterotic G_2 system in terms of a differential operator	752
	5.2 The infinitesimal deformations of heterotic G_2 systems	756
	5.3 Symmetries and trivial deformations	759

	5.4 The tangent space to the moduli space and α' corrections	761
6.	Conclusions and Outlook	763
A.	Identities and Lemmas	764
B.	Curvature Identities	767
C.	Heterotic Supergravity and Equations of Motion	771

1. Introduction

A heterotic G_2 system is a quadruple $([Y, \varphi], [V, A], [TY, \tilde{\theta}], H)$ where Y is a seven dimensional manifold with an integrable G_2 structure φ , V is a bundle on Y with connection A, TY is the tangent bundle of Y with connection $\tilde{\theta}$, and H is a three form on Y determined uniquely by the G_2 structure. Both connections are instanton connections, that is, they satisfy

$$F \wedge \psi = 0, \quad \tilde{R} \wedge \psi = 0,$$

where $\psi = *\varphi$, F is the curvature two form of the connection A on the bundle V, and \tilde{R} is the curvature two form of the connection $\tilde{\theta}$ on TY. The three form H must satisfy a constraint

$$H = dB + \frac{\alpha'}{4} (CS(A) - CS(\tilde{\theta})),$$

where CS(A) and $CS(\tilde{\theta})$ are the Chern–Simons forms for the connections A and $\tilde{\theta}$ respectively, and B is a two-form. This constraint, called the anomaly cancelation condition, mixes the geometry of Y with that of the bundles. These structures have significant mathematical and physical interest. The main goal of this paper is to describe the tangent space to the moduli space of these systems.

Determining the structure of the moduli space of supersymmetric heterotic string vacua has been an open problem since the work of Strominger and Hull [1,2] in 1986, in which the geometry was first described for the case of compactifications on six dimensional manifolds with H-flux (Calabi–Yau compactifications without flux were first constructed by Candelas et al. [3]). The geometry for the seven dimensional case was later discussed in [4–9]. Over the last 30 years very good efforts have been made to understand various aspects of the moduli of these heterotic systems. The geometric moduli space for heterotic Calabi–Yau compactifications was determined early on [10]. More recently, the infinitesimal moduli space has been determined for heterotic Calabi–Yau compactifications with holomorphic vector bundles [11,12], and subsequently for the full Strominger–Hull system [13–16]. Furthermore, the geometric moduli for G_2 holonomy manifolds have been determined by Joyce [17,18], and explored further in the references [19–26]. Finally, deformations of G_2 instanton bundles have been studied [27–31].

Integrable G_2 geometry has features in common with even dimensional complex geometry. One can define a *canonical differential complex* $\check{\Lambda}^*(Y)$ as a sub complex of the de Rham complex [32], and the associated cohomologies $\check{H}^*(Y)$ have similarities with the Dolbeault complex of complex geometry. Heterotic vacua on seven dimensional

¹ Note that even though the *B* field is called a "two form", it is not a well defined tensor as it transforms under gauge transformations of the bundles. However, *B* transforms in such a way that the three form *H* is in fact well defined.

non-compact manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure lead to four-dimensional domain wall solutions that are of interest in physics [33–46], and whose moduli determine the massless sector of the four-dimensional theory. Furthermore, families of SU(3) structure manifolds can be studied through an embedding in integrable G_2 geometry. Through such embeddings, variations of complex and hermitian structures of six dimensional manifolds are put on equal footing. The G_2 embeddings can also be used to study flows of SU(3) structure manifolds [20,47,48].

These results from physics and mathematics prompt and pave the way for our research on the combined infinitesimal moduli space TM of heterotic G_2 systems $([Y,\varphi],[V,A],[TY,\tilde{\theta}],H)$. This study is an extension of our work [49], where we determined the combined infinitesimal moduli space $TM_{(Y,[V,A],[TY,\tilde{\theta}])}$ of heterotic G_2 systems with H=0, where Y is a G_2 holonomy manifold. The canonical cohomology for manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure mentioned above can be extended to bundle valued cohomologies for bundles (V,A) on Y, as long as the connection A is an instanton [50,51]. As the instanton condition is the heterotic supersymmetry condition for the gauge bundle, the corresponding canonical cohomologies feature prominently in the moduli problems of heterotic compactifications. We find in particular, a G_2 analogue of Atiyah's deformation space for holomorphic systems [52]. We restrict ourselves in the current paper to scenarios where the internal geometry Y is compact, though we are confident that the analysis can also be applied in non-compact scenarios such as the domain wall solutions [33–46], provided suitable boundary conditions are imposed.

As a first step, we describe the infinitesimal moduli space of manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure. We do this in terms of one forms with values in TY. On manifolds with G_2 holonomy, the infinitesimal moduli space of compact manifolds Y [17,18] is contained in $\check{H}^1(Y,TY)$ [24,49] which is finite-dimensional [50,51]. For manifolds with integrable G_2 structure, the differential constraints on the geometric moduli are much weaker, and the infinitesimal moduli space of Y need not be a finite dimensional space. This is analogous to the infinite dimensional hermitian moduli space of the SU(3) structure manifolds of the Strominger–Hull systems [53,54]. Expressing the geometric deformations in terms of TY-valued one forms has another important consequence: using this formalism makes it easier to describe *finite deformations* of the geometry. We will use the full power of this mathematical framework in a future publication [55] to study the finite deformation complex of integrable G_2 manifolds.

We then extend our work to a description of the deformations of $([Y, \varphi], [V, A])$ requiring that the instanton constraint is preserved. As mentioned above, we find a structure that resembles Atiyah's analysis of deformations of holomorphic bundles. Specifically, we find that the infinitesimal moduli space $\mathcal{T}M_{([Y,\varphi],[V,A])}$ is contained in

$$\check{H}^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)) \oplus \ker(\check{\mathcal{F}}),$$

where we define a G_2 Atiyah map \mathcal{F} by [49]

$$\check{\mathcal{F}}$$
: $\mathcal{T}M_Y \to \check{H}^2(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$,

which a linear map given in terms of the curvature F. The space TM_Y denotes the infinitesimal geometric moduli of Y which, as noted above, can be infinite dimensional but reduces to $\check{H}^1(Y, TY)$ in the case where Y has G_2 holonomy as showed in [49].

Finally we consider the full heterotic G_2 system, including the heterotic anomaly cancelation equation. When combined with the instanton conditions on the bundles, we show that the constraints on the heterotic G_2 system ($[Y, \varphi], [V, A], [TY, \tilde{\theta}], H$) can

be rephrased in terms of a nilpotency condition $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2=0$ on the operator \mathcal{D} acting on a bundle

$$Q = T^*Y \oplus \text{End}(V) \oplus \text{End}(TY).$$

It should be noted that, in contrast to compactifications of six dimensional complex manifolds studied in [11–15], the operator $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ does not define \mathcal{Q} as an extension bundle as, we will see, it is *not upper triangular*. We proceed to show that the infinitesimal heterotic moduli are elements in the cohomology group

$$\mathcal{T}M = \check{H}^1_{\check{\mathcal{D}}}(\mathcal{Q}).$$

Consequently, the infinitesimal moduli space of heterotic G_2 systems is of finite dimension. Our analysis complements the findings of [56], where methods of elliptic operator theory were used to show that the infinitesimal moduli space of heterotic G_2 compactifications is finite dimensional when the G_2 geometry is compact.

The rest of this paper is organised as follows: Sect. 2 reviews G_2 structures and introduces mathematical tools we need in our analysis. Section 3 discusses infinitesimal deformations of manifolds Y with integrable G_2 structure. In Sect. 4 we discuss the infinitesimal deformations of $([Y, \varphi], [V, A])$, and in Sect. 5 we deform the full heterotic G_2 system $([Y, \varphi], [V, A], [TY, \tilde{\theta}], H)$. We conclude and point out directions for further studies in Sect. 6. Three appendices with useful formulas, curvature identities and a summary of heterotic supergravity complement the main discussion.

2. Background Material

This section summarises the mathematical formalism that we will need to analyse the deformations of heterotic string vacua on manifolds with G_2 structure. While we intend for this paper to be self-contained, we will only discuss the tools of need for the present analysis. More complete treatments can be found in the references stated below.

2.1. Manifolds with a G_2 structure. A manifold with a G_2 structure is a seven dimensional manifold Y which admits a non-degenerate positive associative 3-form φ [19]. Any seven dimensional manifold which is spin and orientable, that is, its first and second Stiefel–Whitney classes are trivial, admits a G_2 structure. The 3-form φ determines a Riemannian metric g_{φ} on Y given by

$$6g_{\omega}(x, y) \operatorname{dvol}_{\omega} = (x \, \lrcorner \varphi) \wedge (y \, \lrcorner \varphi) \wedge \varphi, \tag{2.1}$$

where x and y are any vectors in $\Gamma(TY)$. The Hodge-dual of φ with respect to this metric is a co-associative 4-form

$$\psi = *\varphi.$$

The components of the metric g_{φ} are

$$g_{\varphi ab} = \frac{\sqrt{\det g_{\varphi}}}{3! \, 4!} \, \varphi_{ac_1c_2} \, \varphi_{bc_3c_4} \, \varphi_{c_5c_6c_7} \, \epsilon^{c_1...c_7} = \frac{1}{4!} \, \varphi_{ac_1c_2} \, \varphi_{bc_3c_4} \, \psi^{c_1c_2c_3c_4}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$dx^{a_1...a_7} = \sqrt{\det g_{\omega}} \, \epsilon^{a_1...a_7} \, dvol_{\omega}.$$

Note that with respect to this metric, the 3-form φ , and hence its Hodge dual ψ , are normalised so that

$$\varphi \wedge *\varphi = ||\varphi||^2 \operatorname{dvol}_{\varphi}, \quad ||\varphi||^2 = \varphi \, \exists \varphi = 7.$$

We refer the reader to [19,20,57-60], and our paper [49], for more details on G_2 stuctures.

2.1.1. Decomposition of forms. The existence of a G_2 structure φ on Y determines a decomposition of differential forms on Y into irreducible representations of G_2 . This decomposition changes when one deforms the G_2 structure.

Let $\Lambda^k(Y)$ be the space of k-forms on Y and $\Lambda^k_p(Y)$ be the subspace of $\Lambda^k(Y)$ of k-

Let $\Lambda^k(Y)$ be the space of k-forms on Y and $\Lambda^k_p(Y)$ be the subspace of $\Lambda^k(Y)$ of k-forms which transform in the p-dimensional irreducible representation of G_2 . We have the following decomposition for each k = 0, 1, 2, 3:

$$\Lambda^{0} = \Lambda_{1}^{0},$$

$$\Lambda^{1} = \Lambda_{7}^{1} = T^{*}Y \cong TY,$$

$$\Lambda^{2} = \Lambda_{7}^{2} \oplus \Lambda_{14}^{2},$$

$$\Lambda^{3} = \Lambda_{1}^{3} \oplus \Lambda_{7}^{3} \oplus \Lambda_{27}^{3}.$$

The decomposition for k = 4, 5, 6, 7 follows from the Hodge dual for k = 3, 2, 1, 0 respectively.

Any two form β can be decomposed as

$$\beta = \alpha \lrcorner \varphi + \gamma,$$

for some $\alpha \in \Lambda^1$ and two form $\gamma \in \Lambda^2_{14}$ which satisfies $\gamma \, \lrcorner \varphi = 0$ (or equivalently $\gamma \wedge \psi = 0$) where, by Eqs. (A.18) and (A.21), we have

$$\pi_7(\beta) = \frac{1}{3} (\beta \rfloor \varphi) \rfloor \varphi = \frac{1}{3} (\beta + \beta \rfloor \psi), \tag{2.3}$$

$$\pi_{14}(\beta) = \frac{1}{3} (2\beta - \beta \rfloor \psi).$$
(2.4)

That is, we can characterise the decomposition of Λ^2 as follows:

$$\Lambda_7^2 = \{\alpha \,\lrcorner \varphi : \alpha \in \Lambda^1\} = \{\beta \in \Lambda^2 : (\beta \,\lrcorner \varphi) \,\lrcorner \varphi = 3 \,\beta\} = \{\beta \in \Lambda^2 : \beta \,\lrcorner \psi = 2 \,\beta\},\tag{2.5}$$

$$\Lambda_{14}^2 = \{ \beta \in \Lambda^2 : \beta \varphi = 0 \} = \{ \beta \in \Lambda^2 : \beta \psi = 0 \} = \{ \beta \in \Lambda^2 : \beta \psi = -\beta \}.$$
(2.6)

The decomposition of Λ^5 is easily obtained by taking the Hodge dual of the decomposition of Λ^2 , and we can write any five-form as

$$\beta = \alpha \wedge \psi + \gamma,$$

where $\alpha \in \Lambda^1$, and $\gamma \in \Lambda^5_{14}$ satisfies $\psi \lrcorner \gamma = 0$. The decomposition of Λ^5 are then analogous to (2.5)–(2.6), and can be found in [49]. An alternative representation of five-forms is

$$\beta = \alpha \wedge \psi + \varphi \wedge \sigma,$$

where $\sigma \in \Lambda_{14}^2$ and $*\gamma = -\sigma$. The components α and σ can be obtained by performing the appropriate contractions with ψ or φ respectively

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{3} \, \psi \, \lrcorner \beta, \quad \sigma = \varphi \, \lrcorner \beta - \frac{2}{3} \, (\psi \, \lrcorner \beta) \, \lrcorner \varphi.$$

Any three form λ can be decomposed into

$$\lambda = f \varphi + \alpha \bot \psi + \chi, \tag{2.7}$$

for some function f, some $\alpha \in \Lambda^1$, and some three form $\chi \in \Lambda^3_{27}$ which satisfies

$$\chi \lrcorner \varphi = 0$$
, and $\chi \lrcorner \psi = 0$.

Another way to characterise and decompose a three form is in terms of a one form M with values in the tangent bundle. Given such form $M \in \Lambda^1(TY)$, there is a unique three form

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{2} M^a \wedge \varphi_{abc} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc}. \tag{2.8}$$

Conversely, a three form λ determines a unique one from $M \in \Lambda^1(TY)$

$$\frac{1}{4} \varphi^{cd}{}_{a} \lambda_{bcd} = \frac{1}{2} g_{ab} \operatorname{tr} M + M_{ab} + \frac{1}{2} M_{cd} \psi^{cd}{}_{ab}
= \frac{9}{14} g_{ab} \operatorname{tr} M + h_{ab} + 3 (\pi_{7}(m))_{ab},$$
(2.9)

where the matrix M_{ab} is defined as

$$M_{ab} = g_{ac} (M^c)_b,$$

and we have set

$$h_{ab} = M_{(ab)} - \frac{1}{7} g_{ab} \operatorname{tr} M, \quad m = \frac{1}{2} M_{[ab]} dx^{ab}.$$
 (2.10)

Comparing the decompositions (2.8) and (2.7) we have

$$f = \frac{3}{7} \operatorname{tr} M = \frac{1}{7} \varphi \lambda, \tag{2.11}$$

$$\alpha = -m \, \lrcorner \varphi, \quad \pi_7(m) = -\frac{1}{3} \, \alpha \, \lrcorner \varphi = \frac{1}{4!} \, \varphi^{cd}_{a} \, \lambda_{bcd} \, \mathrm{d}x^{ab}, \tag{2.12}$$

$$\chi = \frac{1}{2} h_a^d \varphi_{bcd} \, dx^{abc}, \quad h_{ab} = \frac{1}{4} \varphi^{cd}{}_{(a} \chi_{b)cd}. \tag{2.13}$$

In other words, regarding M as a matrix, $\pi_1(\lambda)$ corresponds to the trace of M, $\pi_7(\lambda)$ corresponds to $\pi_7(m)$ where m is the antisymmetric part of M, and the elements in Λ^3_{27} to the traceless symmetric 2-tensor h_{ab} . It is in fact easy to check that $\chi \in \Lambda^3_{27}$ as $\chi \perp \psi = 0$ due to the symmetric property of h, and $\varphi \perp \chi = 0$ due to h being traceless.

The decomposition of four forms can be obtained similarly. Any four form Λ decomposes into

$$\Lambda = \tilde{f} \, \psi + \tilde{\alpha} \wedge \varphi + \gamma. \tag{2.14}$$

where \tilde{f} is a smooth function on Y, $\tilde{\alpha}$ is a one-form, and $\gamma \in \Lambda^4_{27}$ which means $\varphi \lrcorner \gamma = 0$ and $\psi \lrcorner \gamma = 0$. We can also characterise and decompose four forms in terms of a one form N with values in the tangent bundle

$$\Lambda = \frac{1}{3!} N^a \wedge \psi_{abcd} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bcd}. \tag{2.15}$$

In this case

$$-\frac{1}{12} \psi^{cde}{}_a \Lambda_{bcde} = \frac{8}{7} g_{ab} \operatorname{tr} N + S_{ab} + 3(\pi_7(n))_{ab},$$

where

$$S_{ab} = N_{(ab)} - \frac{1}{7} g_{ab} \operatorname{tr} N, \quad n = \frac{1}{2} N_{[ab]} dx^{ab}.$$

The decomposition of the four form Λ into irreducible representations of G_2 , is given in terms of N by

$$\tilde{f} = \frac{4}{7} \operatorname{tr} N = \frac{1}{7} \psi \rfloor \Lambda \tag{2.16}$$

$$\tilde{\alpha} = n \, \lrcorner \varphi, \quad \pi_7(n) = \frac{1}{3} \, \tilde{\alpha} \, \lrcorner \varphi = -\frac{1}{3 \cdot 4!} \, \psi^{cde}{}_a \, \Lambda_{bcde} \, \mathrm{d}x^{ab}$$
 (2.17)

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{3!} h_a^e \psi_{ebcd} dx^{abcd}, \quad h_{ab} = -\frac{1}{12} \psi^{cde}{}_{(a} \gamma_{b)cde}.$$
 (2.18)

It is easy to check that, in fact, $\gamma \in \Lambda^4_{27}$, as $\varphi \lrcorner \gamma = 0$ due to the symmetric property of h, and $\psi \lrcorner \gamma = 0$ due to h being traceless. Of course, this characterisation and decomposition of four forms can also be obtained using Hodge duality. Note also that if $\gamma \in \Lambda^4_{27}$ is given by $\gamma = *\chi$ where $\chi \in \Lambda^3_{27}$, then for

$$\chi = \frac{1}{2} h_a^d \varphi_{bcd} \, \mathrm{d} x^{abc},$$

we have

$$\gamma = *\chi = -\frac{1}{3!} h_a^e \psi_{ebcd} dx^{abcd}.$$

We will use these characterisations of three and four forms in terms of one forms with values in TY to describe deformations of the G_2 structure, in particular, the deformations of the G_2 forms φ and ψ . It is important to keep in mind that only $\pi_7(m)$ and $\pi_7(n)$ appear in these decompositions. In fact, we have not set $\pi_{14}(m)$ or $\pi_{14}(n)$ to zero as these automatically drop out. Later, when extending our discussion of the moduli space of heterotic string compactifications, the components $\pi_{14}(m)$ or $\pi_{14}(n)$ will enter in relation to deformations of the B-field.

2.1.2. The intrinsic torsion. Decomposing into representations of G_2 the exterior derivatives of φ and ψ we have

$$d\varphi = \tau_0 \psi + 3 \tau_1 \wedge \varphi + *\tau_3, \tag{2.19}$$

$$d\psi = 4\tau_1 \wedge \psi + *\tau_2, \tag{2.20}$$

where the forms $\tau_i \in \Lambda^i(Y)$ are called the *torsion classes*. These forms are *uniquely* determined by the G_2 -structure φ on Y [59]. We note that $\tau_2 \in \Lambda^2_{14}$ and that $\tau_3 \in \Lambda^3_{27}$. A G_2 structure for which

$$\tau_2 = 0$$
,

will be called an *integrable* G_2 structure following Fernández–Ugarte [32]. In this paper we will derive some results for manifolds with a general G_2 structure, however we will be primarily interested in integrable G_2 structures which are particularily relevant for heterotic strings compactifications.

We can write Eqs. (2.19) and (2.20) in terms of τ_2 and a three form H defined as

$$H = \frac{1}{6} \tau_0 \varphi - \tau_1 \Box \psi - \tau_3. \tag{2.21}$$

In fact, one can prove that

$$d\varphi = \frac{1}{4} H_{ab}{}^e \varphi_{ecd} dx^{abcd}, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$d\psi = \frac{1}{12} H_{ab}^{\ f} \psi_{fcde} \, dx^{abcde} + *\tau_2. \tag{2.23}$$

The proof is straightforward using identities (A.15), (A.24), (A.19) and (A.25).

Let us end this discussion with a remark on the connections on Y. Let Y be a manifold which has a G_2 structure φ , and let ∇ be a metric connection on Y compatible with the G_2 structure, that is

$$\nabla g_{\varphi} = 0, \quad \nabla \varphi = 0.$$

We say that the connection ∇ has G_2 holonomy. The conditions $\nabla \varphi = 0$ and $\nabla \psi = 0$ imply Eqs. (2.22) and (2.23) respectively, and the three form H corresponds to the torsion of the unique connection which is totally antisymmetric which exists *only* if $\tau_2 = 0$ [60].

2.1.3. The canonical cohomology. Before we go on, we need to introduce the concept of a "Dolbeault complex" for manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure. This complex is appears naturally in the analysis of infinitesimal and finite deformations of integrable G_2 manifolds and heterotic compactifications. It was first considered in [32,50], and discussed extensively in [49], so we will limit our discussion to the necessary definitions and theorems. In the ensuing sections, we will use and generalise these results.

To construct a sub-complex of the de Rham complex of Y, we define the analogue of a Dolbeault operator on a complex manifold

Definition 1. The differential operator \check{d} is defined by the maps

That is,

$$\check{d}_0 = d$$
, $\check{d}_1 = \pi_7 \circ d$, $\check{d}_2 = \pi_1 \circ d$.

Then we have the following theorem [32,50]

Theorem 1. Let Y be a manifold with a G_2 structure. Then

$$0 \to \Lambda^0(Y) \xrightarrow{\check{d}} \Lambda^1(Y) \xrightarrow{\check{d}} \Lambda_7^2(Y) \xrightarrow{\check{d}} \Lambda_1^3(Y) \to 0 \tag{2.24}$$

is a differential complex, i.e. $\check{d}^2=0$ if and only if the G_2 structure is integrable, that is, $\tau_2=0$.

We denote the complex (2.24) by $\check{\Lambda}^*(Y)$. This complex (2.24) is, in fact, an elliptic complex [50]. The corresponding cohomology ring, $\check{H}^*(Y)$, is referred to as the canonical G_2 -cohomology of Y [32].

This complex can naturally be extended to forms with values in bundles, just as for holomorphic bundles over a complex manifold. Let E be a bundle over the manifold Y with a one-form connection A whose curvature is F. We are interested in instanton connections A on E, that is, connections with curvature F which satisfies

$$\psi \wedge F = 0, \tag{2.25}$$

or equivalently, $F \in \Lambda^2_{14}(Y, \operatorname{End}(E))$. We can now define the differential operator

Definition 2. The maps $\check{\mathbf{d}}_{iA}$, i = 0, 1, 2 are given by

$$\begin{split} &\check{\mathrm{d}}_{0A}: \Lambda^0(Y,E) \to \Lambda^1(Y,E), \quad \check{\mathrm{d}}_{0A}f = \mathrm{d}_Af, \quad f \in \Lambda^0(Y,E), \\ &\check{\mathrm{d}}_{1A}: \Lambda^1(Y,E) \to \Lambda^2_7(Y,E), \quad \check{\mathrm{d}}_{1A}\alpha = \pi_7(\mathrm{d}_A\alpha), \quad \alpha \in \Lambda^1(Y,E), \\ &\check{\mathrm{d}}_{2A}: \Lambda^2(Y,E) \to \Lambda^3_1(Y,E), \quad \check{\mathrm{d}}_{2A}\beta = \pi_1(\mathrm{d}_A\beta), \quad \beta \in \Lambda^2_7(Y,E). \end{split}$$

where the π_i 's denote projections onto the corresponding subspace.

It is easy to see that these operators are well-defined under gauge transformations. Theorem 1 can then be generalised to [50]:

Theorem 2. Let Y be a seven dimensional manifold with a G_2 -structure. The complex

$$0 \to \Lambda^0(Y, E) \xrightarrow{\check{d}_A} \Lambda^1(Y, E) \xrightarrow{\check{d}_A} \Lambda^2_7(Y, E) \xrightarrow{\check{d}_A} \Lambda^3_1(Y, E) \to 0$$
 (2.26)

is a differential complex, i.e. $\check{d}_A^2 = 0$, if and only if the connection A on V is an instanton and the manifold has an integrable G_2 structure. We shall denote the complex (2.26) $\check{\Lambda}^*(Y,E)$.

Note that the complex (2.26) is elliptic, as was shown in [51].

2.2. Useful tools for deformation problems. In this section, we review and develop tools for the study of the moduli space of (integrable) G_2 structures. While the ulterior motive to introduce this mathematical machinery is to investigate whether the moduli space of heterotic string compactifications is given by a differential graded Lie Algebra (DGLA), we limit ourselves in this paper to infinitesimal deformations. A more thorough discussion about DGLAs and finite deformations will appear elsewhere [55]. For more discussion about the graded derivations, insertion operators and derivatives introduced below, the reader is referred to e.g. [61–63].

2.2.1. Graded derivations and insertion operators. Let Y be a manifold of arbitrary dimension.

Definition 3. A graded derivation D of degree p on a manifold Y is a linear map

$$D: \Lambda^k(Y) \longrightarrow \Lambda^{p+k}(Y),$$

which satisfies the Leibnitz rule

$$D(\alpha \wedge \beta) = D(\alpha) \wedge \beta + (-1)^{kp} \alpha \wedge D(\beta). \tag{2.27}$$

for all k-forms α and any form β .

Definition 4. Let M be a p-form with values in TY and let α be a k-form. The insertion operator i_M is defined by the linear map

$$i_M: \Lambda^k(Y) \longrightarrow \Lambda^{p+k-1}(Y),$$

$$\alpha \longmapsto i_M(\alpha) = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} M^a \wedge \alpha_{ab_1...b_{k-1}} \, \mathrm{d} x^{b_1...b_{k-1}} = M^a \wedge \alpha_a, \quad (2.28)$$

where we have defined a (k-1) form α_a with values in T^*Y from the k-form α by

$$\alpha_a = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \alpha_{ab_1...b_{k-1}} dx^{b_1...b_{k-1}}.$$

It is not too hard to prove that the insertion operator i_M defines a graded derivation of degree p-1, and we leave this as an exercise for the reader.

One can extend the definition of the insertion operator to act on the space of forms with values in $\Lambda^n TY$, or $\Lambda^n T^*Y$, or indeed in $\Lambda^n V \times \Lambda^m V^*$, for any bundle V on Y. For forms with values in any bundle E on Y, the insertion operator I_M is the linear map

$$i_M: \Lambda^k(Y, E) \longrightarrow \Lambda^{p+k-1}(Y, E),$$
 (2.29)

with $i_M(\alpha)$ given by the same formula (2.28) for any $\alpha \in \Lambda^k(E)$. Again, it is not too hard to see that this formula defines a graded derivation of degree p-1. For example, for every $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ and $N \in \Lambda^q(T, TY)$ we define $i_M(N) \in \Lambda^{p+q-1}(Y, TY)$ by

$$i_M(N^a) = \frac{1}{(q-1)!} M^b \wedge (N^a)_{bc_1...c_{q-1}} dx^{c_1...c_{q-1}}.$$
 (2.30)

A further generalisation can be achieved by letting the form M which is being inserted take values in $\Lambda^p(\Lambda^mTY)$ for $m \ge 1$. For example, the insertion operator i_M for the action of $M \in \Lambda^p(\Lambda^mTY)$ on $N \in \Lambda^q(Y, TY)$ is given by

$$i_M(N)=M^{a_1...a_m}\wedge N_{a_1...a_m},$$

where $q \ge m$ and

$$N_{a_1...a_m} = \frac{1}{(q-m)!} N_{a_1...a_m b_1...b_{q-m}} dx^{b_1...b_{q-m}}.$$

In this case, i_M is a derivation of degree p-m.

The insertion operators i_M form a Lie algebra with a bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]$ given by

$$[i_M, i_N] = i_M i_N - (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)} i_N i_M = i_{[M,N]},$$
(2.31)

where $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$, $N \in \Lambda^q(T, TY)$ and

$$[M, N] = i_M(N) - (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)} i_N(M), \tag{2.32}$$

is the Nijenhuis–Richardson bracket, which is a derivation of degree p + q - 1. The Lie bracket is a derivation of degree p + q - 2. To verify (2.31), let α be any k-form, (perhaps with values in a bundle E on Y). Then, by the Leibnitz rule (2.27)

$$i_{M}(i_{N}(\alpha)) = i_{M}(N^{a} \wedge \alpha_{a}) = i_{M}(N^{a}) \wedge \alpha_{a} + (-1)^{(p-1)q} N^{a} \wedge i_{M}(\alpha_{a})$$
$$= i_{i_{M}(N)}(\alpha) + (-1)^{(p-1)q} N^{a} \wedge M^{b} \wedge \alpha_{ab}, \tag{2.33}$$

where α_{ab} is the (k-2)-form obtained from α

$$\alpha_{ab} = \frac{1}{(k-2)!} \alpha_{abc_1...c_{k-2}} dx^{c_1...c_{k-1}}.$$

Then noting Eq. (2.32) and that

$$M^a \wedge N^b \wedge \alpha_{ab} = (-1)^{pq+1} N^a \wedge M^b \wedge \alpha_{ab}$$

we obtain (2.31).

Definition 5. The Nijenhuis–Lie derivative \mathcal{L}_M along $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} = [d, i_{M}] = d i_{M} + (-1)^{p} i_{M} d, \qquad (2.34)$$

where d is the exterior derivative.

Note that when p = 1, M is a section of TY and so the Nijenhuis–Lie derivative is the Lie derivative along the vector field M. The Nijenhuis–Lie derivative is a derivation of degree p acting on the space of forms on Y.

2.2.2. Covariant derivatives, connections and Lie derivatives. We can generalise the definition of the Nijenhuis–Lie to act covariantly on forms with values in any bundle E. This was also recently discussed in [64]. Suppose that α is k-form on Y which transforms in a representation of the gauge group of E with representation matrices T_I , where the label I runs over the dimension of the gauge group. Then, an exterior covariant derivative we can be written as

$$d_A \alpha = d \alpha + A \cdot \alpha, \quad A \cdot \alpha = A^I \wedge (T_I \alpha).$$
 (2.35)

where A is a connection one form on E. Note that

$$\mathrm{d}_A^2\alpha = F \cdot \alpha,$$

where F is the curvature of the connection A.

Definition 6. Let E be a vector bundle on Y with connection A. The covariant Nijenhuis–Lie derivative \mathcal{L}_M^A along $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ acting on forms on Y which are in a representation of the E is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{M}^{A} = [d_{A}, i_{M}] = d_{A} \circ i_{M} + (-1)^{p} i_{M} \circ d_{A}. \tag{2.36}$$

Let ∇ be a covariant derivative on Y with connection symbols Γ . One can define a covariant derivative ∇^A on $E \otimes TY$ (to make sense of parallel transport on E) by

$$\nabla_{a}^{A} \alpha_{c_{1}...c_{k}} = \partial_{A a} \alpha_{c_{1}...c_{k}} - k \Gamma_{a[c_{1}}{}^{b} \alpha_{|b|c_{2}...c_{k}]} = \nabla_{a} \alpha_{c_{1}...c_{k}} + A_{a} \cdot \alpha_{c_{1}...c_{k}}, \quad (2.37)$$

where

$$\partial_{A\,a}\,\alpha_{c_1...c_k} = \partial_a\,\alpha_{c_1...c_k} + A_a \cdot \alpha_{c_1...c_k},$$

Let d_{θ} be an exterior covariant derivative on TY with connection one form θ given by

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d}x^c, \tag{2.38}$$

where Γ are the connection symbols of a covariant derivative ∇ on Y.

Theorem 3. Let E be a bundle on a manifold Y with connection A. The covariant Nijenhuis–Lie derivative \mathcal{L}_M^A along $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ satisfies

$$\mathcal{L}_{M}^{A} = [d_{A}, i_{M}] = i_{d_{\theta} M} + (-1)^{p} i_{M}(\nabla^{A}), \tag{2.39}$$

where d_{θ} is an exterior covariant derivative on TY with connection one form

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c,$$

and ∇^A is a covariant derivative on $E \otimes TY$ with connection symbols on TY given by Γ

Proof. Let α be any k-form on Y which transforms in a representation of the structure group of E with representation matrices T_I . Then

$$d_A i_M(\alpha) = d_A(M^a \wedge \alpha_a) = d_\theta M^a \wedge \alpha_a + (-1)^p M^a \wedge (d_A \alpha_a - \theta_a{}^b \wedge \alpha_a)$$
$$= i_{d_\theta M}(\alpha) - (-1)^p i_M(d_A \alpha) + (-1)^p M^a \wedge (d_A \alpha_a + (d_A \alpha)_a - \theta_a{}^b \wedge \alpha_b).$$

For the third term we have

$$d_{A}\alpha_{a} = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \, \partial_{A\,b} \, \alpha_{ac_{1}...c_{k-1}} \, dx^{bc_{1}...c_{k-1}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{k!} \left((k+1) \, \partial_{A[b}\alpha_{ac_{1}...c_{k-1}]} + (-1)^{k-1} \, \partial_{A\,a} \, \alpha_{c_{1}...c_{k-1}b} \right) dx^{bc_{1}...c_{k-1}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{k!} \, (d_{A}\alpha)_{bac_{1}...c_{k-1}} \, dx^{bc_{1}...c_{k-1}} + \partial_{A\,a}\alpha$$

$$= -(d_{A}\alpha)_{a} + \partial_{A\,a}\alpha.$$

Therefore

$$d_A \alpha_a + (d_A \alpha)_a - \theta_a{}^b \wedge \alpha_b = \partial_A {}_a \alpha - \theta_a{}^b \wedge \alpha_b. \tag{2.40}$$

This result can be written in terms of a gauge covariant derivative ∇^A on $E \otimes TY$

$$\partial_{Aa}\alpha - \theta_a{}^b \wedge \alpha_b = \frac{1}{k!} \left(\partial_{Aa}\alpha_{c_1...c_k} - k \Gamma_{a[c_1}{}^b \alpha_{|b|c_2...c_k]} \right) \mathrm{d}x^{c_1...c_k}$$
$$= \frac{1}{k!} \left(\nabla_a^A \alpha_{c_1...c_k} \right) \mathrm{d}x^{c_1...c_k}.$$

Thus

$$d_A i_M(\alpha) = i_{d_\theta M}(\alpha) - (-1)^p i_M(d_A \alpha) + (-1)^p M^a \wedge \nabla_a^A \alpha,$$

and (2.39) follows. \square

Note the useful expression in the proof for the covariant derivative, namely

$$\nabla_a^A \alpha \equiv \frac{1}{k!} (\nabla_a^A \alpha_{c_1...c_k}) \, \mathrm{d} x^{c_1...c_k} = \partial_{A\,a} \alpha - \theta_a^{\ b} \wedge \alpha_b. \tag{2.41}$$

Corollary 1. Let Y be a n-dimensional manifold. Let ∇ be a metric compatible covariant derivative on Y with connection symbols Γ , and d_{θ} be an exterior covariant derivative on TY such that the connection one forms θ and the connection symbols Γ are related by

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c.$$

Suppose that Y admits a k-form λ which is covariantly constant with respect to ∇ . Then

$$\mathcal{L}_M(\lambda) = [d, i_M](\lambda) = i_{d_\theta M}(\lambda),$$

Proof. This follows directly from the theorem. \Box

It is important to notice that the choice for Γ and hence θ is determined by the fact that $\nabla \lambda = 0$. Note that the Nijenhuis–Lie derivative is defined with no reference to any covariant derivate on Y, that is, it should only depend on the intrinsic geometry of Y.

2.3. Application to manifolds with a G_2 structure. Before embarking on the analysis of moduli spaces, we apply some of the ideas in the previous section to seven dimensional manifolds Y with a G_2 structure φ .

Let $\hat{H} \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY)$ be defined in terms of the three form H in Eq. (2.21) as

$$\hat{H}^a = \frac{1}{2} H_{bc}{}^a \, \mathrm{d}x^{bc}. \tag{2.42}$$

Then, the integrability equations for φ and ψ in Eqs. (2.22) and (2.23) can be nicely written in term of insertion operators as

$$d\varphi = \hat{H}^a \wedge \varphi_a = i_{\hat{H}}(\varphi), \tag{2.43}$$

$$d\psi = \hat{H}^a \wedge \psi_a = i_{\hat{H}}(\psi), \tag{2.44}$$

where we have set $\tau_2 = 0$ as we are interested on moduli spaces of integrable G_2 structures.

Let ∇ be a covariant derivative on Y compatible with the G_2 structure, that is

$$\nabla \varphi = 0, \quad \nabla \psi = 0,$$

with connection symbols Γ . Then, by Corollary 1, the Nijenhuis–Lie derivatives of φ and ψ along $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ are

$$\mathcal{L}_{M}(\varphi) = [\mathbf{d}, i_{M}](\varphi) = i_{\mathbf{d}_{\theta} M}(\varphi), \tag{2.45}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_M(\psi) = [\mathbf{d}, i_M](\psi) = i_{\mathsf{d}_\alpha M}(\psi), \tag{2.46}$$

where the connection one-form θ of exterior covariant derivative d_{θ} on TY is

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c.$$

As mentioned before, though these equations seem to depend on a choice of a covariant derivative compatible with the G_2 structure, this is not case. On a manifold with a G_2 structure, there is a two parameter family of covariant derivatives compatible with a given G_2 structure on Y [49,60] with connection symbols

$$\Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} = \Gamma_{ab}^{LC}{}^{c} + A_{ab}{}^{c}(\alpha, \beta),$$

where Γ^{LC} are the connection symbols of the Levi–Civita covariant derivative, $A_{abc}(\alpha, \beta)$ is the contorsion and α and β are real parameters. The contorsion is given by

$$\begin{split} A_{abc}(\alpha,\beta) &= \frac{1}{2} \, H_{abc} - \frac{1}{6} \, \tau_{2\,da} \, \varphi_{bc}{}^d + \frac{1}{6} \, (1+2\beta) \, ((\tau_1 \, \lrcorner \, \psi)_{abc} - 4 \, \tau_{1\,[b} \, g_{\varphi\,c]a}) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{4} \, (1+2\alpha) \, (3 \, \tau_{3\,abc} - 2 \, S_a{}^d \, \varphi_{bcd}), \end{split}$$

where S is the traceless symmetric matrix corresponding to the torsion class τ_3

$$\tau_3 = \frac{1}{2} S^a \wedge \varphi_{abc} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} \in \Lambda^3_{27}.$$

It is straightforward to show that in fact, only the first two terms of the contorsion contribute to the right hand side of Eqs. (2.45) and (2.46). In other words, we only need to work with a covariant derivative ∇ with

$$A_{abc} = \frac{1}{2} H_{abc} - \frac{1}{6} \tau_{2da} \varphi_{bc}^{\ d},$$

that is, with a connection with torsion

$$T_{abc} = H_{abc} + \frac{1}{6} \tau_{2dc} \varphi_{ab}^{d}.$$

The torsion is totally antisymmetric when $\tau_2 = 0$ and this corresponds to the unique covariant derivative with totally antisymmetric torsion. In this paper we are concerned mainly with integrable G_2 structures and hence we work with a connection for which T = H.

3. Infinitesimal Deformations of Manifolds with an Integrable G_2 Structure

We now turn to studying the tangent space to the moduli space of manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure. Finite deformations will be discussed in a future publication [55]. In this section we discuss the infinitesimal deformations in terms of one forms M_t with values in TY and find moduli equations in terms of these forms. Our main result is that such deformations preserve the integrable G_2 structure if and only if M_t satisfies Eq. (3.11). In addition, we derive equations for the variation of the intrinsic torsion of the manifold.

3.1. Equations for deformations that preserve an integrable G_2 structure. Let Y be a manifold with an integrable G_2 structure determined by φ . In this subsection we find

equations that are satisfied by those infinitesimal deformations of the integrable G_2 structure which preserve the integrability.

From the discussion in Sect. 2.1.1 we can deduce that the infinitesimal deformations of the integrable G_2 structure take the form

$$\partial_t \varphi = \frac{1}{2} M_t^a \wedge \varphi_{abc} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} = i_{M_t}(\varphi), \tag{3.1}$$

$$\partial_t \psi = \frac{1}{3!} N_t^a \wedge \psi_{abcd} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bcd} = i_{N_t}(\psi). \tag{3.2}$$

where N_t and M_t are one forms valued in TY. The forms N_t and M_t are not independent as ψ and φ are Hodge dual to each other. To first order, N_t and M_t must be related such that

$$\partial_t \psi = \partial_t * \varphi.$$

We proved in [49] that the first order variations of the metric in terms of M_t are given by

$$\partial_t g_{\omega ab} = 2 M_{t(ab)}, \tag{3.3}$$

$$\partial_t \sqrt{\det g_{\varphi}} = (\operatorname{tr} M_t) \sqrt{\det g_{\varphi}}, \tag{3.4}$$

and that

$$M_t = N_t$$
.

Note that only the symmetric part of M_t contributes to the infinitesimal deformations of the metric. To first order, we can interpret the antisymmetric part of M_t as deformations of the G_2 structure which leave the metric fixed, however this is not true at higher orders in the deformations as will be discussed in [55]. We give the equations for moduli of integrable G_2 structures in the following proposition.

Proposition 1. Let Y be a manifold with an integrable G_2 structure φ and $\psi = *\varphi$. The infinitesimal moduli $M_t \in \Lambda^1(Y, TY)$ which preserve the integrability of the G_2 structure satisfy the equations

$$i_{\sigma_{\epsilon}}(\varphi) = 0, \tag{3.5}$$

$$i_{\sigma_t}(\psi) = 0, \tag{3.6}$$

where $\sigma_t \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY)$ is given by

$$\sigma_t = \mathrm{d}_\theta M_t - [\hat{H}, M_t] - \partial_t \hat{H}, \tag{3.7}$$

or equivalently

$$\sigma_t^a = (\nabla_b M_{tc}^a) \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} - \partial_t \hat{H}^a, \tag{3.8}$$

where d_{θ} is an exterior covariant derivative on TY with connection one form

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c,$$

and Γ are the connection symbols of a connection ∇ on Y which is compatible with the G_2 structure and has totally antisymmetric torsion H given by Eq. (2.21).

Proof. The proof of this proposition follows from the variations of Eqs. (2.43) and (2.44). Consider first Eq. (2.43). We can write the variation of the left hand side as

$$\mathrm{d}\partial_t \varphi = \mathrm{d}\,i_{M_t}(\varphi).$$

By Eq. (2.45) we find

$$d\partial_t \varphi = [d, i_{M_t}](\varphi) + i_{M_t} d\varphi = i_{d_\theta M_t}(\varphi) + i_{M_t} (i_{\hat{H}}(\varphi)), \tag{3.9}$$

where d_{θ} is an exterior covariant derivative on TY with connection one form

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b dx^c$$

and Γ are the connection symbols of a connection ∇ on Y which is compatible with the G_2 structure and has totally antisymmetric torsion H (see Sect. 2.3). Now varying the right hand side, we have

$$\partial_t (i_{\hat{H}}(\varphi)) = i_{\partial_t \hat{H}}(\varphi) + i_{\hat{H}}(i_{M_t}(\varphi)).$$

Equating this with (3.9) we obtain

$$i_{\mathrm{d}_{\theta}M_{t}-\partial_{t}\hat{H}}(\varphi)+[i_{M_{t}},i_{\hat{H}}](\varphi)=0.$$

Equation (3.5) follows this together with Eq. (2.31)

$$i_{d_{\theta}M_t - \partial_t \hat{H} - [\hat{H}, M_t]}(\varphi) = 0.$$

where $[\hat{H}, M_t]$ is the Nijenhuis–Richardson bracket of \hat{H} and M_t as defined in Eq. (2.32). Similarly one can obtain Eq. (3.6) by varying starting Eq. (2.44).

To obtain (3.8) we need to write the exterior derivative d_{θ} in terms of the covariant derivative. Using (2.32) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}_{\theta} M^{a}_{t} - [\hat{H}, M_{t}]^{a} &= \mathrm{d} M^{a}_{t} + \theta_{b}{}^{a} \wedge M^{b}_{t} - \hat{H}^{e} \, M^{a}_{te} + M^{e}_{tb} \, H_{ec}{}^{a} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} \\ &= \left(\partial_{b} M^{a}_{tc} + \Gamma_{eb}{}^{a} \, M^{e}_{tc} - \frac{1}{2} \, H_{bc}{}^{e} \, M^{a}_{te} + H_{be}{}^{a} \, M^{e}_{tc} \right) \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} \\ &= \left(\nabla^{LC}_{b} M^{a}_{tc} + \frac{1}{2} \, H_{be}{}^{a} \, M^{e}_{tc} - \frac{1}{2} \, H_{bc}{}^{e} \, M^{a}_{te} \right) \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} = \nabla_{b} M^{a}_{tc} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc} \end{split}$$

We have shown that forms $M_t \in \Lambda^1(Y, TY)$ satisfying Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6) are infinitesimal moduli of manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure. Even though this paper is concerned with heterotic compactifications, the moduli problem described in this section will have applications in other contexts in mathematics and in string theory. In order to understand better the content of these equation we make here a few remarks. Consider first Eq. (3.6) which, as a five form equation, can be decomposed into irreducible representations of G_2 . Using identities (A.26) and (A.27), one can prove that this equation becomes [49]

$$\pi_{7}(i_{\sigma}(\psi)) = -\pi_{14}(\sigma^{a})_{ab} \wedge \psi
= \left(4 \left(\partial_{t} \tau_{1} + i_{M_{t}}(\tau_{1})\right) + (\pi_{14}(d_{\theta}M_{t}^{a}))_{ba} dx^{b}\right) \wedge \psi = 0,$$

$$\pi_{14}(i_{\sigma}(\psi)) = i_{\pi_{7}(\sigma)}(\psi) = i_{d_{\theta}M_{t}}(\psi) = 0.$$
(3.10)

The second equation represents deformations of the integrable G_2 structure which preserve the integrability and it is in fact the *only* constraint on M_t . Observe how $\pi_7([\hat{H}, M_i] + \partial_t \hat{H})$ drops out from this equation automatically

$$i_{\pi_7([\hat{H},M_i]+\partial_t\hat{H})}(\psi)=0.$$

The first Eq. (3.10) then gives the variation of τ_1 for given a solution of (3.11). The other equation for moduli, Eq. (3.5) gives the variations of all torsion classes for each solution of Eq. (3.11). Consequently, it does not restrict M_t . We note that Eq. (3.10) is in fact redundant as its contained in (3.5). It is important to remark too that, as Eq. (3.11) is the only constraint on the variations of the integrable G_2 structure, there is no reason to expect that this space is finite dimensional (except of course in the case where Y has G_2 holonomy).

The tangent space to the moduli space of an integrable G_2 structure is found by modding out the set of solutions to Eq. (3.11) by those which correspond to trivial deformations, that is diffeomorphisms. These trivial infinitesimal deformations of φ and ψ are given by the Lie derivatives of φ and ψ respectively along a vector field V. By Eqs. (2.45) and (2.46) these are given by

$$\mathcal{L}_V(\varphi) = [\mathbf{d}, i_V](\varphi) = i_{\mathbf{d}_{\theta}V}(\varphi), \tag{3.12}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_V(\psi) = [\mathbf{d}, i_V](\psi) = i_{\mathbf{d}_\theta V}(\psi). \tag{3.13}$$

Therefore trivial deformations M_{triv} of the G_2 structure correspond to

$$M_{triv} = d_{\theta} V. \tag{3.14}$$

The decompositions of $\mathcal{L}_V(\varphi)$ and $\mathcal{L}_V(\psi)$ into irreducible representations of G_2 are given by (see Eqs. (2.11)–(2.13))

$$tr M_{triv} = \nabla_a^{LC} v^b = -d^{\dagger} v, \qquad (3.15)$$

$$M_{triv(ab)} = \nabla_{(a}^{LC} v_{b)}, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\pi_7(m_{triv}) = -\frac{1}{2} \pi_7 (dv + v \bot H).$$
(3.17)

Therefore, the tangent space to the moduli space of deformations of integrable G_2 structures is given by the solutions of Eq. (3.11) modulo the trivial variations of the G_2 structure given by Eq. (3.14). We will call this space TM_0 . As mentioned earlier, there is no reason why the resulting space of infinitesimal deformations is finite dimensional, unless one restricts to special cases such as Y having G_2 holonomy.

Finally, we would like to note on a property of the curvature of a manifold with an integrable G_2 structure. For any trivial deformation $M_{triv} = d_\theta V$, Eq. (3.11) gives

$$i_{\check{\mathsf{d}}^2_\theta V}(\psi) = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$i_{\check{R}(\theta)}(\psi) = 0, \tag{3.18}$$

where $R(\theta)$ is the curvature of the one form connection θ and $\check{R}(\theta) = \pi_7(R(\theta))$. This equation is not an extra constraint, but in fact (3.18) turns out always to be true when the G_2 structure is integrable. Indeed, covariant derivatives of the torsion classes are related to the curvature two form, and can be used to show (3.18) without any discussion of the deformation problem. We include the computation in "Appendix B", leading to (B.3).

3.2. A reformulation of the equations for deformations of G_2 structures. In Sect. 5, we will determine the moduli space of heterotic G_2 systems. To this end, it is useful to solve for $\sigma_t \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY)$ in Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6). We have the following lemma

Lemma 1. Let $\sigma \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY)$ and define

$$\lambda = i_{\sigma}(\varphi) \quad \Lambda = i_{\sigma}(\psi).$$

Then σ satisfies $\Lambda = 0$ and $\lambda = 0$, if and only if

$$(\check{\sigma}_a \lrcorner \varphi)_b = (\sigma^d)_{ca} \varphi_{bd}{}^c, \tag{3.19}$$

where $\check{\sigma} = \pi_7 \sigma$.

Proof. The Hodge dual of Λ can be easily computed (using Eq. (A.16)) and is given by

$$*\Lambda = -\frac{1}{2} \left((\sigma^c)_{cd} \varphi^d_{ab} + 2 (\sigma_a \lrcorner \varphi)_b \right) dx^{ab}$$

Therefore $\Lambda = 0$ is equivalent to

$$(\sigma_{[a} \lrcorner \varphi)_{b]} = -\frac{1}{2} (\sigma^c)_{cd} \varphi_{ab}{}^d.$$

Note that contracting this equation with φ^{ab}_{e} we find that

$$(\pi_{14}(\sigma^a))_{ab} = 0, (3.20)$$

and so

$$(\check{\sigma}_{[a} \lrcorner \varphi)_{b]} = -\frac{1}{2} (\check{\sigma}^c)_{cd} \varphi_{ab}^{d}. \tag{3.21}$$

where $\check{\sigma} = \pi_7(\sigma)$. We now decompose the four form λ into representations of G_2 as in Sect. 2.1.1, and set each component to zero. The components of λ are obtained by the following computation (see Eqs. (2.15)–(2.18))

$$\frac{1}{12} \psi^{cde}{}_a \lambda_{bcde} = \frac{1}{2} \psi^{cde}{}_a (\sigma^f)_{[bc} \varphi_{de]f} = \frac{1}{4} \psi^{cde}{}_a ((\sigma^f)_{bc} \varphi_{def} - (\sigma^f)_{cd} \varphi_{ebf}).$$

Using the identity (A.8) in the second term

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{12} \, \psi^{cde}{}_a \, \lambda_{bcde} &= \frac{1}{4} \left(4 \, (\sigma^f)_{bc} \, \varphi^c{}_{af} - 6 \, (\sigma^f)_{cd} \, g_{ar} \, \delta^{[c}_{[b} \, \varphi^{dr]}{}_{f]} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left(-2 \, (\sigma_c)_{db} \, \varphi^{cd}{}_a - (\sigma^e)_{cd} \, (-2 \, \delta^c_{[b} \, \varphi^d{}_{e]a} + g_{a[b} \, \varphi^{cd}{}_{e]}) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left(-(\sigma_c)_{db} \, \varphi^{cd}{}_a + (\sigma^c)_{cd} \, \varphi^d{}_{ab} - 2 \, g_{a[b} \, (\check{\sigma}^e \, \lrcorner \varphi)_{e]} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left(-(\sigma_c)_{db} \, \varphi^{cd}{}_a + (\sigma^c)_{cd} \, \varphi^d{}_{ab} - g_{ab} \, (\check{\sigma}^e \, \lrcorner \varphi)_{e} + (\check{\sigma}_a \, \lrcorner \varphi)_{b} \right) \end{split}$$

Hence, $\lambda = 0$ is equivalent to

$$0 = -(\sigma_c)_{db} \varphi^{cd}_a + (\sigma^c)_{cd} \varphi^d_{ab} - g_{ab} (\check{\sigma}^e \lrcorner \varphi)_e + (\check{\sigma}_a \lrcorner \varphi)_b.$$

Taking the trace of this equation gives

$$(\check{\sigma}_a \lrcorner \varphi)^a = 0,$$

and therefore

$$0 = -(\sigma_c)_{db} \varphi^{cd}_{a} + (\check{\sigma}^c)_{cd} \varphi^d_{ab} + (\check{\sigma}_a \bot \varphi)_b, \tag{3.22}$$

where we have used Eq. (3.20) in the second term.

So far, we have proved that $\lambda = 0$ and $\Lambda = 0$ are equivalent to Eqs. (3.21) and (3.22). Taking the antisymmetric part of Eq. (3.22) we have

$$0 = -(\sigma_c)_{d[b} \varphi^{cd}_{a]} + (\check{\sigma}^c)_{cd} \varphi^d_{ab} + (\check{\sigma}_{[a} \sqcup \varphi)_{b]},$$

and using (3.21) in the third term we find

$$(\check{\sigma}^c)_{cd} \varphi^d_{ab} = 2 (\sigma_c)_{d[b} \varphi^{cd}_{a]}$$

Using this back into Eq. (3.22) we have

$$0 = -(\sigma_c)_{dh} \varphi^{cd}_{a} + 2 (\sigma_c)_{d[h} \varphi^{cd}_{a]} + (\check{\sigma}_a \lrcorner \varphi)_{h},$$

from which (3.19) follows. \square

The result of the lemma is that σ_t defined as in (3.8) satisfies

$$((\check{\sigma}_{t\,a})_{cd} - 2(\sigma_{t\,c})_{da})\varphi^{cd}_{b} = 0.$$

In other words, defining a two form $\Sigma_t \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY)$ by

$$\Sigma_{t\,a} = \frac{1}{4} \left((\sigma_{t\,a})_{bc} - 2 \, (\sigma_{t\,b})_{ca} \right) dx^{bc} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma_{t\,a} - (\sigma_{t\,b})_{ca} \, dx^{bc} \right),$$

the equation for moduli is equivalent to

$$\check{\Sigma}_t = \pi_7(\Sigma_t) = 0.$$

We would like to write this equation in terms of M_t and H. We have

$$\Sigma_{t\,a} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma_{t\,a} - (\sigma_{t\,b})_{ca} \, \mathrm{d}x^{bc} \right) = \sigma_{t\,a} - \frac{1}{4} \left(2 \left(\sigma_{t\,b} \right)_{ca} + (\sigma_{t\,a})_{bc} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x^{bc}$$
$$= \mathrm{d}_{\theta} M_{t\,a} - [\hat{H}, M_{t}]_{a} - g_{ae} \left(\partial_{t} \hat{H}^{e} \right) - \frac{3}{4} \left(\sigma_{t\,[a]}_{bc]} \, \mathrm{d}x^{bc}.$$

The last two terms of this equation become after using Eq. (3.8) in the last term,

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{3}{4} \left(\sigma_{t}_{[a]}\right)_{bc]} dx^{bc} - g_{ae} \left(\partial_{t} \hat{H}^{e}\right) \\ &= -\frac{3}{2} \left(\nabla_{[b} M_{t|a|c]} - \frac{1}{2} g_{e[a} \partial_{t} H_{bc]}^{e}\right) dx^{bc} - g_{ae} \left(\partial_{t} \hat{H}^{e}\right) \\ &= -\frac{3}{2} \left(\partial_{[b} m_{tac]} + H_{[ba}^{e} m_{tc]e}\right) dx^{bc} \\ &+ \frac{3}{4} \left(\partial_{t} H_{abc} - 2 M_{t(e[a)} H_{bc]}^{e}\right) dx^{bc} - \partial_{t} \hat{H}_{a} + 2 M_{(ae)} \hat{H}^{e} \\ &= -\frac{3}{2} \left(-H_{[ab}^{e} m_{tc]e} + H_{[bc}^{e} M_{t(a]e)}\right) dx^{bc} + 2 M_{(ae)} \hat{H}^{e} + (dm_{t})_{a} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{t} \hat{H}_{a} \\ &= [\hat{H}, M_{t}]_{a} + (dm_{t})_{a} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{t} \hat{H}_{a}. \end{split}$$

Therefore

$$\Sigma_{t\,a} = \mathrm{d}_{\theta} M_{t\,a} + (\mathrm{d} m_t)_a + \frac{1}{2} \,\partial_t \hat{H}_a,$$

where m_t is the two form obtained from the antisymmetric part of M_t , that is,

$$m_t = \frac{1}{2} M_{t [ab]} dx^{ab},$$

as in Eq. (2.10) in Sect. 2.1.1. The equation for moduli for a manifold Y with an integrable G_2 structure is

$$0 = \sum_{t \, a} \varphi = \left(d_{\theta} \, M_{t \, a} + (dm_t)_a + \frac{1}{2} \, \partial_t \hat{H}_a \right) \varphi. \tag{3.23}$$

This equation cannot depend on $\pi_{14}(m)$ as these are not part of the moduli of the integrable G_2 structure as discussed before (see Sect. 2.1.1). To check that in fact $\pi_{14}(m)$ drops off Eq. (3.23), we prove the following lemma.

Lemma 2. Let z be a one form with values in T^*Y such that the matrix $z_{ab} = (z_a)_b$ is antisymmetric. Then

$$d_{\theta}z_a = -(dz)_a + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_a z_{bc}) dx^{bc},$$

where

$$z = \frac{1}{2} z_{ab} \, \mathrm{d} x^{ab}.$$

If moreover $z \in \Lambda^2_{14}$, we have

$$(d_{\theta}z_{a} + (dz)_{a}) \lrcorner \varphi = 0$$

Proof. For the first identity we have

$$d_{\theta} z_{a} = (\partial_{b} z_{ac} - \Gamma_{ab}{}^{e} z_{ec}) dx^{bc} = \frac{1}{2} (3 \partial_{[b} z_{ac]} + \partial_{a} z_{bc} - 2 \Gamma_{ab}{}^{e} z_{ec}) dx^{bc}$$

= $-(dz)_{a} + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_{a} z_{bc}) dx^{bc}.$

The second identity follows from the fact that if $z \in \Lambda_{14}^2$, then $z \perp \varphi = 0$. \square

Note in particular that when we restrict to the G_2 holonomy case with vanishing flux (H = 0), the moduli Eq. (3.23) reduces to

$$0 = \sum_{t \, a} \varphi = (d_{\theta} \, M_{t \, a} + (dm_t)_a) \lrcorner \varphi. \tag{3.24}$$

where now d_{θ} denotes the Levi–Civita connection. As shown in [49], one can always make a diffeomorphism gauge choice where

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta} h_{ta} = \check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta}^{\dagger} h_{ta} = 0, \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad h_{ta} \in \mathcal{H}^{1}_{\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta}}(TY) \cong H^{1}_{\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta}}(TY), \tag{3.25}$$

where h_t is the symmetric traceless part of M_t , and $\mathcal{H}^*_{d_\theta}(TY)$ denote d_θ -harmonic forms. Note that h_t is restricted to the **27** representation of $\mathcal{H}^1_{\check{d}_\theta}(TY)$. The remaining representations are the singlet **1**, which corresponds to trivial re-scalings of the metric, and the

anti-symmetric **14** representation, which in string theory have a natural interpretation as *B*-field deformations.

For completeness, but not relevant to the work in this paper, we note that the procedure in this section can also be used to find infinitesimal deformations of a manifold Y with a G_2 structure which is not necessarily integrable. The result in this case is

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \Sigma_{t\,a} \lrcorner \varphi \\ &= \left(\mathrm{d}_\theta \, M_{t\,a} + (\mathrm{d} m_t)_a + \frac{1}{2} \, \partial_t \hat{H}_a \right) \lrcorner \varphi + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_t \tau_{2\,ab} + M^e_{t\,b} \, \tau_{2\,ea} \right) \mathrm{d} x^b. \end{split}$$

In this case, all these equations give the deformations of the torsion classes in terms of M_t . Infinitesimal deformations of a G_2 structure give another G_2 structure as the existence of a G_2 structure on Y is a topological condition (in fact, any 7-dimensional manifold which is spin and orientable, that is, its first and second Stiefel-Whitney classes are trivial, admits a G_2 structure).

A couple of remarks are in order regarding the equations for moduli obtained in this section. What we have demonstrated is that Eq. (3.23) is equivalent to Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6). On a first sight, Eq. (3.23) looks useless as we do not have (at this stage) an independent way to describe the variations of the torsion in terms of the M_t . Equation (3.23) however will become useful in Sect. 5 when we discuss the moduli of heterotic G_2 systems. In this context, perturbative quantum corrections to the theory require the cancelation of an anomaly which gives an independent description of H in terms of instanton connections on both TY and a vector bundle V on Y.

4. Moduli Space of Instantons on Manifolds with G_2 Structure

We now turn to studying the moduli space of integrable G_2 manifolds with instantons. There is a large literature on deformations of instantons on manifolds with special structure [27–31,45,49–51,65–74]. In order for this paper to be self-contained, we will now review the results of [49], using the insertion operators introduced in previous sections. We will see that, in this set up, proofs of the theorems of [49] simplify drastically.

Consider a one parameter family of pairs (Y_t, V_t) with $(Y_0, V_0) = (Y, V)$, V is vector bundle over a manifold Y which admits an integrable G_2 structure. Let F be the curvature of V and we take F to satisfy the instanton equation

$$F \wedge \psi = 0. \tag{4.1}$$

The moduli problem that we want to discuss in this section is the simultaneous deformations of the integrable G_2 structure on Y together with those of the bundle V which preserve both the integrable G_2 structure on Y and the instanton equation. We begin by considering variations of Eq. (4.1).

Theorem 4 [49]. Let $M_t \in \Lambda^1(TY)$ be a deformation of the integrable G_2 structure on Y and $\partial_t A$ a deformation of the instanton connection on V. The simultaneous deformations M_t and $\partial_t A$ which respectively preserve the integrable G_2 structure and the instanton condition on V must satisfy

$$\left(\mathbf{d}_A \,\partial_t A - i_{M_t}(F)\right) \, \lrcorner \varphi = 0. \tag{4.2}$$

Proof. Variations of the instanton Eq. (4.1) give

$$0 = \partial_t(F \wedge \psi) = \partial_t F \wedge \psi + F \wedge \partial_t \psi.$$

Note that in the first term, the wedge product of $\partial_t F$ with ψ picks out the part of $\partial_t F$ which is in Λ_7^2 . Noting that

$$\partial_t F = \mathrm{d}_A \partial_t A$$

we obtain

$$d_A \partial_t A \wedge \psi + F \wedge i_{M_t}(\psi) = 0$$

Taking the Hodge dual we obtain equivalently

$$(d_A \partial_t A) \lrcorner \varphi = - * (F \wedge i_{M_t}(\psi)) = - * (F \wedge M_t^a \wedge \psi_a) = * (M_t^a \wedge F_a \wedge \psi)$$
$$= * (i_{M_t}(F) \wedge \psi).$$

where we have used the identity (A.23) in the second to last equality. Therefore the result follows. \Box

Note that $\partial_t A$ is not well defined (it is not an element of $\Lambda^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$), however Eq. (4.2) is covariant. Under a gauge transformation Φ , A transforms as

$$A \mapsto {}^{\Phi}A = \Phi (A - \Phi^{-1} d\Phi)\Phi^{-1},$$

and hence $\partial_t A$ transforms as

$$\partial_t A \mapsto \Phi(\partial_t A) = \Phi(\partial_t A - d_A(\Phi^{-1}\partial_t \Phi))\Phi^{-1}.$$

After a short computation, we find

$$d_A \partial_t A \mapsto \Phi(d_A \partial_t A) = \Phi(d_A \partial_t A - d_A^2 (\Phi^{-1} \partial_t \Phi)) \Phi^{-1},$$

and contracting with φ

$$(d_{A}\partial_{t}A) \lrcorner \varphi \mapsto \Phi(d_{A}\partial_{t}A) \lrcorner \varphi = \Phi\left(\left(d_{A}\partial_{t}A - d_{A}^{2}(\Phi^{-1}\partial_{t}\Phi)\right) \lrcorner \varphi\right)\Phi^{-1}$$
$$= \Phi\left(\left(d_{A}\partial_{t}A\right) \lrcorner \varphi\right)\Phi^{-1},$$

where we have used the fact that $\check{d}_A^2 = 0$. Hence Eq. (4.2) is covariant.² One can define a *covariant deformation* of A, $\alpha_t \in \Lambda^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$, by introducing a connection one form Λ *on the moduli space* of instanton bundles over Y.³ Because Eq. (4.2) is already a covariant equation for the moduli, it should be the case that

$$\alpha_t = \partial_t A - d_A \Lambda_t, \tag{4.3}$$

² This had already been noticed by Atiyah in connection with his work on the moduli of holomorphic bundles on complex manifolds [52] and has been used in [16]. Here we generalise this point to the case at hand of the moduli of instanton connections on manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure.

³ Here we generalise the work of [16] where covariant variations of holomorphic connections were constructed.

that is, α_t and $\partial_t A$ can only differ by a term which is $\check{\mathbf{d}}_A$ -closed. Note that α_t is in fact covariant as long as the connection Λ_t transforms under gauge transformations as

$$\Lambda_t \mapsto \Phi \Lambda_t = \Phi (\Lambda_t - \Phi^{-1} \partial_t \Phi) \Phi^{-1}.$$

In terms of elements $\alpha_t \in \Lambda^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$, Eq. (4.2) is

$$\left(\mathbf{d}_{A}\alpha_{t} - i_{M_{t}}(F)\right) \lrcorner \varphi = 0. \tag{4.4}$$

It will convenient (and important) to understand better the moduli problem to define the map [49]⁴

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{F}: & \Lambda^p(Y,TY) & \longrightarrow & \Lambda^{p+1}(Y,\operatorname{End}(V)) \\ & M & \mapsto & \mathcal{F}(M) = (-1)^p \, i_M(F). \end{array}$$

We also define the map

$$\check{\mathcal{F}}: \quad \Lambda^p_{\mathbf{r}}(Y, TY) \longrightarrow \quad \Lambda^{p+1}_{\mathbf{r}'}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)),$$

where $\Lambda^p_{\mathbf{r}}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)) \subseteq \Lambda^p(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$, $\Lambda^{p+1}_{\mathbf{r}'}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)) \subseteq \Lambda^{p+1}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$, and \mathbf{r} and \mathbf{r}' are appropriate irreducible G_2 representations as follows:

$$\begin{split} \check{\mathcal{F}}(M) &= \mathcal{F}(M) = i_M(F), & \text{for } M \in \Lambda^0(TY), \\ \check{\mathcal{F}}(M) &= \pi_7(\mathcal{F}(M)) = -\pi_7(i_M(F)), & \text{for } M \in \Lambda^1(TY), \\ \check{\mathcal{F}}(M) &= \pi_1(\mathcal{F}(M)) = \pi_1(i_M(F)), & \text{for } M \in \Lambda^2_7(TY). \end{split}$$

Note that the projections that define $\check{\mathcal{F}}$ are completely analogous to those that define the derivatives \check{d}_A . In terms of this map, Eq. (4.4) can be written as

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_A \alpha_t + \check{\mathcal{F}}(M_t) = 0. \tag{4.5}$$

The theorem below proves that as a consequence of the Bianchi identity $d_A F = 0$, $\check{\mathcal{F}}$ maps the moduli space of manifolds with an integrable G_2 structure into the \check{d}_A -cohomology discussed in Sect. 2.1.3.

Theorem 5 [49]. Let $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$, where p = 0, 1, 2, and let F be the curvature of a bundle V with one form connection A which satisfies the instanton equation. Let ∇ be a covariant derivative on Y compatible with the integrable G_2 structure on Y with torsion H, and d_θ be an exterior covariant derivative such that

$$\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c,$$

where Γ are the connection symbols of ∇ . Then the Bianchi identity

$$d_A F = 0$$
,

implies

$$\dot{\mathbf{d}}_A(\check{\mathcal{F}}(M)) + \check{\mathcal{F}}(\dot{\mathbf{d}}_\theta(M)) = 0. \tag{4.6}$$

⁴ Note that \mathcal{F} and M_t have changed signs compared to [49].

Forms $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ which are $\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta}$ -exact are mapped into forms in $\Lambda^{p+1}(Y, \operatorname{End}(TY))$ which are $\check{\mathbf{d}}_A$ -exact. Furthermore, **any** form $M \in \Lambda^1(Y, TY)$ which satisfies the moduli equation

$$i_{\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta}M}(\psi) = 0,$$

is mapped into a $\check{\mathrm{d}}_A$ -closed form in $\Lambda^2(Y,\operatorname{End}(TY))$. Therefore, $\check{\mathcal{F}}$ maps the infinitesimal moduli space TM_0 of Y into elements of the cohomology $H^2_{\check{\mathsf{d}}_A}(Y,\operatorname{End}(V))$.

Proof. Consider $d_A i_M(F)$. Then

$$d_A i_M(F) = [d_A, i_M](F) + i_M d_A F.$$

The second term vanishes by the Bianchi identity. Using Eq. (2.39) we find

$$d_A i_M(F) - i_{d_B M}(F) = (-1)^p M^a \wedge \nabla_a^A F,$$

where

$$\nabla_a^A F = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_a^A (F_{bc}) \, \mathrm{d} x^{bc}.$$

Contracting with φ we find

$$(\mathbf{d}_{A}i_{M}(F) - i_{\mathbf{d}_{\theta}M}(F)) \lrcorner \varphi = (\mathbf{d}_{A}i_{M}(F) - \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{d}_{\theta}M)) \lrcorner \varphi = (-1)^{p} (M^{a} \wedge \nabla_{a}^{A}F) \lrcorner \varphi$$

$$= (-1)^{p} * (M^{a} \wedge \nabla_{a}^{A}F \wedge \psi)$$

$$= (-1)^{p} * (M^{a} \wedge (\nabla_{a}^{A}(F \wedge \psi) - F \wedge \nabla_{a}\psi)) = 0.$$

Hence, by the definition of \mathcal{F} we find

$$(\mathbf{d}_A(\mathcal{F}(M)) - \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{d}_\theta M)) \bot \varphi = 0. \tag{4.7}$$

which implies Eq. (4.6) upon considering the appropriate projections for each value of p.

Suppose $M \in \Lambda^p(Y, TY)$ is \check{d}_{θ} -exact, that is

$$M = \check{d}_{\theta} V$$

for some $V \in \Lambda^{p-1}(Y, TY)$. We want to prove that $\check{\mathcal{F}}(\check{\mathsf{d}}_{\theta}V)$ is maped into a $\check{\mathsf{d}}_A$ -exact form in $\Lambda^{p+1}(Y, \operatorname{End}(TY))$. This is now obvious from Eq. (4.6).

Consider now $M \in \Lambda^1(Y, TY)$ which satisfies the moduli Eq. (3.6). We want to prove that $\mathcal{F}(M)$ is d_A -closed. According to Eq. (4.6), this means we need to prove that

$$\mathcal{F}(\check{\mathrm{d}}_{\theta}M)=0$$

when M satisfies (3.6). This is in fact the case as can be verified by the following computation

$$\mathcal{F}(d_{\theta}M) \lrcorner \varphi = *(\mathcal{F}(d_{\theta}M) \wedge \psi) = *(i_{d_{\theta}M}(F) \wedge \psi) = *(d_{\theta}M^{a} \wedge F_{a} \wedge \psi)$$
$$= - *(i_{d_{\theta}M}(\psi) \wedge F) = - *(i_{\check{d}_{\theta}M}(\psi) \wedge F) = 0. \tag{4.8}$$

In the second line of this computation we have used the identity (A.23) in the first equality, and Eqs. (A.26) and (A.27) in the second. \Box

We remark that actually any $M \in \Lambda^1(Y, TY)$ which satisfies the moduli equation

$$i_{\sigma}(\psi) = 0$$
,

where

$$\sigma_t = \mathrm{d}_\theta M_t - [\hat{H}, M_t] - \partial_t \hat{H} \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY),$$

is mapped by $\check{\mathcal{F}}$ into a \check{d}_A -closed form. Indeed, the last term in the calculation above in Eq. (4.8) can be written as (see Eqs. (3.11) and (3.10))

$$0 = - * (i_{\check{d}_{0}M}(\psi) \wedge F) = - * (\pi_{14}(i_{\sigma}(\psi)) \wedge F) = - * (i_{\sigma}(\psi) \wedge F).$$

Equation (4.5) and Theorem 5 give a very nice picture of the tangent space to the moduli space of simultaneous deformations of the integrable G_2 structure on Y together with the instanton condition on the bundle V on Y. Keeping the G_2 structure fixed $(\partial_t \psi = 0)$ on the base manifold Eq. (4.5) gives

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_A \alpha_t = 0, \tag{4.9}$$

which is the equation for the bundle moduli. It is also clear that variations of A which are \check{d}_A -exact one-forms correspond to gauge transformations, so the bundle moduli correspond to elements of the cohomology group

$$H^1_{\check{\mathsf{d}}_4}(Y,\operatorname{End}(V)).$$

On the other hand, suppose that the parameter t corresponds to a deformation of the integrable G_2 structure. Then Eq. (4.5) represents the equation that the moduli M_t must satisfy in order for the instanton condition be preserved. In fact, it means that the variations $M_t \in \mathcal{T}M_0$ of the integrable G_2 structure of Y, are such that $\check{\mathcal{F}}(M_t)$ must be $\check{\mathrm{d}}_A$ -exact, that is

$$M_t \in \ker(\check{\mathcal{F}}) \subseteq \mathcal{T}M_0.$$

Therefore, the tangent space of the moduli space of the combined deformations of the integrable G_2 structure and bundle deformations is given by

$$\mathcal{TM}_1 = \ker(\check{\mathcal{F}}) \oplus H^1_{\check{\mathsf{d}}_A}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)),$$
 (4.10)

where elements in $H^1_{\check{\mathrm{d}}_A}(Y,\operatorname{End}(V))$ correspond to bundle moduli. Note again that there is no reason to believe that $\ker(\check{\mathcal{F}})$ is finite dimensional.

Finally, there is an important observation regarding the parts of the moduli $M \in \Lambda^1(Y,TY)$ which appear in Eq. (4.10). Thinking about M as a matrix, we have seen that $\pi_{14}(m)$ (where m is the two form obtained from the antisymmetric part of M) drops out of the contractions $i_M(\psi)$ and $i_M(\varphi)$ corresponding to the variations of ψ and φ respectively. Hence $\pi_{14}(m)$ plays no part in the moduli problem leading to TM_0 . It is easy to see that $\pi_{14}(m)$ also drops out from Eqs. (4.5) and (4.6). For Eq. (4.5),

$$\mathcal{F}(M) \lrcorner \varphi = - * (i_M(F) \land \psi) = - * (M^a \land F_a \land \psi) = * (M^a \land \psi_a \land F)$$
$$= * (i_M(\psi) \land F)$$

where we have used identity (A.23). This same argument shows that $\pi_{14}(m)$ drops out of the first term of Eq. (4.6). As Eq. (4.6) must be true for any $M \in \Lambda^1(Y, TY)$, it follows that $\pi_{14}(m)$ drops out of the second term too.

5. Infinitesimal Moduli of Heterotic G_2 Systems

We now use the results of the previous sections to determine the infinitesimal moduli space of heterotic G_2 systems. We show that the moduli problem can be reformulated in terms of a differential operator $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ acting on forms \mathcal{Z} with values in a bundle

$$Q = T^*Y \oplus \operatorname{End}(TY) \oplus \operatorname{End}(V). \tag{5.1}$$

We construct an exterior covariant derivative \mathcal{D} by requiring that, for a one form \mathcal{Z} with values in \mathcal{Q} , the conditions $\check{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{Z})=0$, reproduces the equations for moduli that we already have, that is Eqs. (3.23) and (4.5). Furthermore, we show that $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2=0$ is enforced by the heterotic G_2 structure, including crucially Eq. (4.6), and the anomaly cancelation condition that we introduce below. In other words, we show that the heterotic G_2 structure corresponds to an instanton connection on \mathcal{Q} . Conversely, we prove that a differential which satisfies $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2=0$ implies the heterotic G_2 system including the (Bianchi identity of) the anomaly cancelation condition. We show that this result is true to all orders in the α' expansion. With this differential at hand, we show that the infinitesimal heterotic moduli space corresponds to classes in the cohomology group

$$H^1_{\check{\mathcal{D}}}(Y,\mathcal{Q}),$$

which is finite dimensional.

5.1. The heterotic G_2 system in terms of a differential operator. In this subsection we reformulate the heterotic G_2 system

$$([Y, \varphi], [V, A], [TY, \tilde{\theta}], H),$$

in terms of a differential operator, or more precisely, a covariant operator $\check{\mathcal{D}}$, which acts on forms with values on the bundle

$$Q = T^*Y \oplus \operatorname{End}(TY) \oplus \operatorname{End}(V), \tag{5.2}$$

and which satisfies $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2=0$. It is important to keep in mind that we demand that H, which encodes the geometry of the integrable G_2 structure on (Y,φ) (see Eq. (2.21)) satisfies a constraint, the anomaly cancelation condition

$$H = dB + \frac{\alpha'}{4} (CS[A] - CS[\tilde{\theta}]) . \tag{5.3}$$

In what follows we will also need the *Bianchi identity for the anomaly cancelation condition* which is obtained by applying the exterior derivative d to the anomaly

$$dH = \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(tr(F \wedge F) - tr(\tilde{R} \wedge \tilde{R}) \right)$$
 (5.4)

We show in "Appendix C" that heterotic G_2 systems correspond to certain vacua of heterotic supergravity, provided that the torsion class τ_1 is an exact form. The results in this paper however apply to a more general system, as we do not assume anywhere that the torsion class τ_1 is d-exact (by Eq. (2.20) it is clear that for an integrable G_2 structure, τ_1 is always d-closed).

Consider the differential operator

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} d_{\theta} & \widetilde{\mathcal{R}} & -\mathcal{F} \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{R}} & d_{\widetilde{\theta}} & 0 \\ \mathcal{F} & 0 & d_{A} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.5}$$

which acts on forms with values in Q. The operator acts linearly on forms with values in Q and it is easy to check that D satisfies the Leibniz rule, that is,

$$\mathcal{D}(f \mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{d}f \wedge \mathcal{V} + f \mathcal{D}\mathcal{V},$$

for any section $\mathcal V$ of $\mathcal Q$ and any function f on Y. Therefore, it defines a connection, or more appropriately, a covariant exterior derivative on $\mathcal Q$. Its action on higher tensor products of $\mathcal Q$ can be obtained from the Leibniz rule. It is important to keep in mind in the definition of $\mathcal D$ that the two connections θ and $\tilde \theta$ on TY are not the same (see more details in "Appendix C" for the reasons of this difference in the supergravity theory).

The map \mathcal{F} has been defined already in Sect. 4 by its action on forms with values in TY. In defining \mathcal{D} , we extend the definition of the operator \mathcal{F} to act on forms with values in \mathcal{Q} as follows. Let $y \in \Lambda^p(Y, T^*Y)$, and $\alpha \in \Lambda^p(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$. Then

$$\mathcal{F}: \quad \Lambda^p(Y, T^*Y) \oplus \Lambda^p(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)) \longrightarrow \Lambda^{p+1}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V)) \oplus \Lambda^{p+1}(Y, T^*Y)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix} \qquad \mapsto \qquad \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F}(y) \\ \mathcal{F}(\alpha) \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}(y) = (-1)^p g^{ab} y_a \wedge F_{bc} dx^c = (-1)^p i_y(F),$$

$$\mathcal{F}(\alpha)_a = (-1)^p \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}(\alpha \wedge F_{ab} dx^b).$$

The map $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is defined similarly, but acts on forms valued in $\Lambda^p(Y, T^*Y) \oplus \Lambda^p(Y, \operatorname{End}(TY))$. We also define the maps $\check{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\check{\tilde{\mathcal{R}}}$ as in Sect. 4 by an obvious generalisation.

We now show that the projection $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ of the operator \mathcal{D} satisfies $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2=0$ for heterotic G_2 systems. The Bianchi identity of the anomaly cancelation condition enters crucially in the proof.

Theorem 6. For a heterotic G_2 system ($[Y, \varphi], [V, A], [TY, \tilde{\theta}], H$), the operator \mathcal{D} satisfies $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$.

Proof. Computing the square of Eq. (5.5) we have

$$\mathcal{D}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} d_{\theta}^{2} + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^{2} - \mathcal{F}^{2} & d_{\theta}\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}d_{\tilde{\theta}} & -(d_{\theta}\mathcal{F} + \mathcal{F}d_{A}) \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}d_{\theta} + d_{\tilde{\theta}}\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} & \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^{2} + d_{\tilde{\theta}}^{2} & -\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}\mathcal{F} \\ \mathcal{F}d_{\theta} + d_{A}\mathcal{F} & \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} & -\mathcal{F}^{2} + d_{A}^{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.6)

We want to prove that $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$.

Consider first the condition corresponding to the (31) entry of (5.6)

$$\check{\mathcal{F}}(\check{\mathsf{d}}_{\theta}\,\mathsf{y}) + \check{\mathsf{d}}_{A}\check{\mathcal{F}}(\mathsf{y}) = 0, \quad \forall \; \mathsf{y} \in \Lambda^{p}(\mathsf{Y}, T^{*}\mathsf{Y}).$$

This has already been proven (see Eq. (4.6) and its proof in Theorem 5). The condition for the (21) entry

$$\check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}(\check{\mathrm{d}}_{\theta}y) + \check{\mathrm{d}}_{\widetilde{\theta}} \, \check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}(y) = 0, \quad \forall \ y \in \Lambda^p(Y, T^*Y),$$

is similarly satisfied.

We already know that $\check{d}_A^2 = 0$, and $\check{d}_{\tilde{\theta}}^2 = 0$ so the conditions for the entries (22) and (33) are respectively

$$\check{\mathcal{F}}^2(\alpha) = 0, \quad \check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}^2(\kappa) = 0,$$

for any $\alpha \in \Lambda^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$ and any $\kappa \in \Lambda^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(TY))$. These equations are in fact is true. For the first one

$$\mathcal{F}^{2}(\alpha) = -\frac{\alpha'}{4} g^{ac} \left(\operatorname{tr}(\alpha \wedge F_{ab} \, \mathrm{d}x^{b}) \right) \wedge F_{cd} \, \mathrm{d}x^{d}. \tag{5.7}$$

By Eq. (A.28) we see inmediately that

$$\check{\mathcal{F}}^2(\alpha) = 0.$$

The proof that $\overset{\times}{\mathcal{R}}^2(\kappa) = 0$ follows similarly. It also follows from Eq. (A.28), that the proof of the conditions corresponding to the entries (23) and (32)

$$\check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}(\check{\mathcal{F}}(\alpha)) = 0, \quad \check{\mathcal{F}}(\check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}(\kappa)) = 0.$$

is completely analogous.

Consider now the condition corresponding to the (13) entry of (5.6). For any $\alpha \in \Lambda^1(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$, we have

$$d_{\theta}\mathcal{F}(\alpha)_{a} + \mathcal{F}(d_{A}\alpha)_{a} = d\mathcal{F}(\alpha)_{a} - \theta_{a}{}^{b} \wedge \mathcal{F}(\alpha)_{b} + (-1)^{p+1} \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}\left((d_{A}\alpha) \wedge F_{ab} \, dx^{b}\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{p} \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}\left(d_{A}(\alpha \wedge F_{ab} \, dx^{b}) - \theta_{a}{}^{b} \wedge \alpha \wedge F_{bc} \, dx^{c}\right)$$

$$- (d_{A}\alpha) \wedge F_{ab} \, dx^{b}$$

$$= \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}\left(\alpha \wedge (d_{A}F_{ab} \, dx^{b} - \theta_{a}{}^{b} \wedge F_{bc} \, dx^{c})\right)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}\left(\alpha \wedge (-(d_{A}F)_{a} + \partial_{A}{}_{a}F - \theta_{a}{}^{b} \wedge F_{bc} \, dx^{c})\right)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}\left(\alpha \wedge \nabla_{a}^{A}F\right),$$

where the last two equalities follow Eqs. (2.40), (2.41) and the Bianchi identity $d_A F = 0$ (see also Lemma 3 in [49]). Contracting with φ and using the fact that $F \, \lrcorner \varphi = 0$, we obtain

$$(\mathrm{d}_{\theta}\mathcal{F}(\alpha)_a + \mathcal{F}(\mathrm{d}_A\alpha)_a) \lrcorner \varphi = \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr} \Big(\alpha \lrcorner \Big((\nabla_a^A F) \lrcorner \varphi \Big) \Big) = \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr} \Big(\alpha \lrcorner \Big(\nabla_a^A (F \lrcorner \varphi) \Big) \Big) = 0,$$

as required. Clearly the proof for the (12) entry is similar, so

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta} \overset{\mathbf{x}}{\mathcal{R}}(\kappa) + \overset{\mathbf{x}}{\mathcal{R}}(\mathbf{d}_{\tilde{\rho}}\kappa) = 0.$$

Finally, for the entry (11) we need to prove that, for any $y \in \Lambda^p(Y, T^*Y)$,

$$\check{\mathsf{d}}_{\theta}^2 \, y - \check{\mathcal{F}}^2(y) + \check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}^2(y) = 0, \tag{5.8}$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}_{\theta}^2 \, y_a &= -R(\theta)_a{}^b \wedge y_b, \\ \mathcal{F}^2(y)_a &= -\frac{\alpha'}{4} \, y^c \wedge \mathrm{tr}(F_{ab} \, \mathrm{d} x^b \wedge F_{cd} \, \mathrm{d} x^d), \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^2(y)_a &= -\frac{\alpha'}{4} \, y^c \wedge \mathrm{tr}(\tilde{K}_{ab} \, \mathrm{d} x^b \wedge \tilde{K}_{cd} \, \mathrm{d} x^d), \end{split}$$

where $R(\theta)$ is the curvature of the connection θ

$$R(\theta)_a{}^b = d\theta_a{}^b + \theta_c{}^b \wedge \theta_a{}^c.$$

Then

$$d_{\theta}^{2} y_{a} - (\mathcal{F}^{2} - \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^{2})(y)_{a} = y^{c} \wedge \left(-R(\theta)_{ac} + \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_{ab} dx^{b} \wedge F_{cd} dx^{d}) - \operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{R}_{ab} dx^{b} \wedge \widetilde{R}_{cd} dx^{d}) \right) \right)$$

By the Bianchi identity of the anomaly cancelation condition (5.4), we have that

$$(dH)_{abcd} dx^{bd} = \alpha' \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_{ab} dx^b \wedge F_{cd} dx^d - F_{ac} F) - \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}_{ab} dx^b \wedge \tilde{R}_{cd} dx^d - \tilde{R}_{ac} \tilde{R}) \right),$$

which implies

$$d_{\theta}^{2} y_{a} - (\mathcal{F}^{2} - \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^{2})(y)_{a} = y^{c} \wedge \left(-R(\theta)_{ac} + \frac{1}{4} (dH)_{abcd} dx^{bd} + \frac{\alpha'}{4} (tr(F_{ac} F) - tr(\widetilde{R}_{ac} \widetilde{R})) \right)$$

To prove Eq. (5.8) we contract this result with φ to find

$$\left(d_{\theta}^{2} y_{a} + (\mathcal{F}^{2} - \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}^{2})(y)_{a}\right) \lrcorner \varphi = -y^{b} \lrcorner \left(\left(R(\theta)_{ab} + \frac{1}{4} (dH)_{abcd} dx^{cd}\right) \lrcorner \varphi\right) = 0, \quad (5.9)$$

by propositions in the "Appendix B". \Box

This result is certainly very interesting and leads to an equally interesting corollary. As an exterior covariant derivative defined on \mathcal{Q} , one can write \mathcal{D} in terms of a one form connection \mathcal{A} on \mathcal{Q} so that

$$\mathcal{D} = d_A = d + \mathcal{A}$$
.

Then Theorem 6 is equivalent to the statement that for a heterotic G_2 system

$$F(A) \wedge \psi = 0$$

where $F(A) = dA + A \wedge A \in \Lambda^2(Y, \text{End}(Q))$ is the curvature of A. In other words, the connection one form A defines an instanton connection on Q.

5.2. The infinitesimal deformations of heterotic G_2 systems. Consider the action of \mathcal{D} on p-forms with values in Q

$$\mathcal{D}\begin{pmatrix} y \\ \kappa \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d_{\theta} \ y + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\kappa) - \mathcal{F}(\alpha) \\ d_{\widetilde{\theta}} \kappa + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(y) \\ d_{A} \alpha + \mathcal{F}(y) \end{pmatrix}$$

The idea is to construct a differential operator \mathcal{D} is such that $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ -closed one forms with values in Q give the equations for infinitesimal moduli of heterotic G_2 systems. Let \mathcal{D} act on an element

$$\mathcal{Z} = \begin{pmatrix} y_t \\ \kappa_t \\ \alpha_t \end{pmatrix} \in \Lambda^1(Y, \mathcal{Q}).$$

Then

$$\check{\mathcal{D}}\mathcal{Z} = 0$$

if and only if

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta} y_t + \check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}(\kappa_t) - \check{\mathcal{F}}(\alpha_t) = 0, \tag{5.10}$$

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\tilde{\theta}}\kappa_t + \overset{\times}{\mathcal{R}}(y_t) = 0, \tag{5.11}$$

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_A \alpha_t + \check{\mathcal{F}}(y_t) = 0. \tag{5.12}$$

In these equations y_t is a general one form with values in T^*Y . To relate these equations with those equations for moduli we have obtained in Sects. 3.2 and 4, we set

$$y_{t\,a} = M_{t\,a} + z_{t\,a},\tag{5.13}$$

where the one form z with values in T^*Y corresponds to a two form

$$z_t = \frac{1}{2} z_{tab} \, \mathrm{d}x^{ab} \in \Lambda^2_{14}(Y),$$

and where the antisymmetric part of the 7×7 matrix associated to M_t forms a two form $m_t \in \Lambda_7^2(Y)$.

Consider first Eq. (5.12). Using Eq. (5.13) we have

$$0 = \check{\mathbf{d}}_A \alpha_t + \check{\mathcal{F}}(v_t) = \check{\mathbf{d}}_A \alpha_t + \check{\mathcal{F}}(M_t) + \check{\mathcal{F}}(z_t).$$

However, the last term vanishes by Eq. (A.28), giving

$$\check{\mathrm{d}}_A\alpha_t+\check{\mathcal{F}}(M_t)=0.$$

By identifying M_t precisely with one forms in T^*Y corresponding to deformations of the G_2 structure $\partial_t \varphi$ as in Eq. (3.1), we obtain Eq. (4.5). This equation gives the simultaneous deformations of (Y, V) that preserve the integrable G_2 structure on Y and the instanton constraint on V. Note that we have no freedom in this identification. There is of course an analogous discussion for Eq. (5.11).

Consider now Eq. (5.10). We have

$$d_{\theta} y_{ta} + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\kappa)_{ta} - \mathcal{F}(\alpha)_{ta} = d_{\theta} y_{ta} - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr}(\alpha_t \wedge F_{ab} dx^b) - \operatorname{tr}(\kappa_t \wedge \widetilde{R}_{ab} dx^b) \right). \tag{5.14}$$

This equation should be identified with the results in Sect. 3. To do so we need the variations of anomaly cancelation condition.

Proposition 2. Let $\alpha_t \in \Lambda^1(\operatorname{End}(V))$ and $\kappa_t \in \Lambda^1(\operatorname{End}(TY))$ correspond, respectively, to covariant variations of the connections A and $\tilde{\theta}$ (see Eq. (4.3)). The variation of Eq. (5.3) can be written as

$$\partial_t H = \mathrm{d}\mathcal{B}_t + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\mathrm{tr}(F \wedge \alpha_t) - \mathrm{tr}(\tilde{R} \wedge \kappa_t) \right),$$
 (5.15)

where \mathcal{B}_t is a well-defined 2-form, that is, it is invariant under gauge transformations of the bundles V and TY. In this definition Λ_t is a connection on the moduli space of instanton bundles on V and $\tilde{\Lambda}_t$ is a connection on the moduli space of instanton bundles on TY (see discussion in Sect. 4).

Proof. Consider the variations of (5.3). We compute first the variations of the Chern–Simons term for the gauge connection.

$$\partial_t \mathcal{C}S[A] = \operatorname{tr}\left(-\operatorname{d}(A \wedge \partial_t A) + 2F \partial_t A\right)$$

and therefore

$$\partial_t H = d \left(\partial_t B - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(tr(A \wedge \partial_t A) - tr(\tilde{\theta} \wedge \partial_t \tilde{\theta}) \right) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(tr(F \wedge \partial_t A) - tr(\tilde{R} \wedge \partial_t \tilde{\theta}) \right)$$
(5.16)

To obtain the desired results we replace $\partial_t A$ and $\partial_t \tilde{\theta}$ with α_t and κ_t at the expense of introducing connections Λ_t and $\tilde{\Lambda}_t$ on the moduli space of instanton bundles on V and TY respectively as explained in Sect. 4. We have for the second term in Eq. (5.16)

$$\frac{\alpha'}{2}\left(\operatorname{tr}(F\wedge\partial_t A)=\frac{\alpha'}{2}\left(\operatorname{tr}(F\wedge(\alpha_t+\mathrm{d}_A\Lambda_t))=\frac{\alpha'}{2}\left(\operatorname{tr}(F\wedge\alpha_t)+\frac{\alpha'}{2}\operatorname{dtr}(F\Lambda_t),\right)\right)$$

where we have used Eq. (4.3) and the Bianchi identity $d_A F = 0$. A similar relation is obtained for the third term of Eq. (5.16). Then Eq. (5.16) gives Eq. (5.15)

$$\partial_t H = \mathrm{d}\mathcal{B}_t + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\mathrm{tr}(F \wedge \alpha_t) - \mathrm{tr}(\tilde{R} \wedge \kappa_t) \right),$$

where we have defined \mathcal{B}_t such that

$$d\mathcal{B}_t = d\left(\partial_t B - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(tr(A \wedge \partial_t A - 2F \Lambda_t) - tr(\tilde{\theta} \wedge \partial_t \tilde{\theta} - 2\tilde{R} \tilde{\Lambda}_t) \right) \right).$$

Note that, as both $\partial_t H$ and the second term in Eq. (5.15) are gauge invariant, then so is $d\mathcal{B}_t$. We can now manipulate this result to obtain

$$\mathrm{d}\mathcal{B}_t = \mathrm{d}\left(\partial_t B - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \Big(\mathrm{tr}\big(A \wedge \alpha_t - \Lambda_t \, \mathrm{d}A - \mathrm{d}(A\Lambda_t)\big) - \mathrm{tr}\big(\tilde{\theta} \wedge \kappa_t - \tilde{\Lambda}_t \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{\theta} - \mathrm{d}(\tilde{\theta}\,\tilde{\Lambda}_t)\big) \Big) \right).$$

⁵ This proposition is a generalisation to the G_2 case of the considerations in [14] and [16] where an invariant variation of the B field was studied in the context of heterotic compatifications on six dimensional manifolds. The proof is of course identical.

In our considerations below, the explicit form of \mathcal{B}_t is not needed. However it is important to keep in mind that is defined *up to a gauge invariant closed form* leading to an extra symmetry of heterotic G_2 systems. We discuss the meaning of this symmetry below.

Returning to Eq. (5.14), using Eq. (5.15) we have that

$$\frac{1}{4} \left(d\mathcal{B}_{t} - \partial_{t} H \right)_{abc} dx^{bc}
= -\frac{\alpha'}{8} 3 \left(tr(\alpha_{t [a} F_{bc]}) - tr(\kappa_{t [a} \tilde{R}_{bc]}) \right) dx^{bc}
= \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(tr(-\alpha_{t a} F + \alpha_{t} \wedge F_{ab} dx^{b}) - tr(-\kappa_{t a} \tilde{R} + \kappa_{t} \wedge \tilde{R}_{ab} dx^{b}) \right),$$

which implies

$$\frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr}(\alpha_t \wedge F_{ab} \, \mathrm{d} x^b) - \operatorname{tr}(\kappa_t \wedge \tilde{R}_{ab} \, \mathrm{d} x^b) \right) = \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathrm{d} \mathcal{B}_t - \partial_t H \right)_{abc} \mathrm{d} x^{bc} + \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr}(\alpha_{t\,a} \, F) - \operatorname{tr}(\kappa_{t\,a} \, \tilde{R}) \right).$$

Using this result into the right hand side of Eq. (5.14) we find

$$d_{\theta} y_{ta} + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\kappa)_{ta} - \mathcal{F}(\alpha)_{ta} = d_{\theta} y_{ta} - \frac{1}{4} \left(d\mathcal{B}_{t} - \partial_{t} H \right)_{abc} dx^{bc} - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(tr(\alpha_{ta} F) - tr(\kappa_{ta} \tilde{R}) \right).$$

Contracting this with φ we find

$$0 = (d_{\theta} y_{ta} + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\kappa)_{ta} - \mathcal{F}(\alpha)_{ta}) \lrcorner \varphi$$

= $(d_{\theta} y_{ta}) \lrcorner \varphi - \frac{1}{4} (d\mathcal{B}_t - \partial_t H)_{abc} \varphi^{bc}{}_{d} dx^{d},$

which can be written equivalently as

$$0 = \left(d_{\theta} y_{ta} + \frac{1}{2} \left(- (d\mathcal{B}_t)_a + \partial_t \hat{H}_a \right) \right) \lrcorner \varphi. \tag{5.17}$$

This result needs to be consistent with the analysis of the moduli of integrable G_2 structures. We recall that in Sect. 3 we obtained instead

$$0 = \left(d_{\theta} M_{ta} + (dm_t)_a + \frac{1}{2} \partial_t \hat{H}_a \right) \lrcorner \varphi,$$

where there $\pi_{14}(m_t)$ drops out of this equation. To be able to compare these equations, we use (5.13) in Eq. (5.17) and we now have

$$0 = \left(d_{\theta} (M_t + z_t)_a + \frac{1}{2} \left(- (d\mathcal{B}_t)_a + \partial_t \hat{H}_a \right) \right) \lrcorner \varphi,$$

which by Lemma 2 gives

$$0 = \left(d_{\theta} M_{ta} + \frac{1}{2} \left(- \left(d(2z_t + \mathcal{B}_t)\right)_a + \partial_t \hat{H}_a\right)\right) \lrcorner \varphi.$$

Therefore we find

$$0 = (d(2(m_t + z_t) - \mathcal{B}_t))_a \lrcorner \varphi,$$

which implies

$$d(2(m_t + z_t) - \mathcal{B}_t)) = 0. (5.18)$$

This equation *identifies* the degrees of freedom corresponding to the antisymmetric part of y_t , that is $m_t + z_t$, with the invariant variations of the B field as follows

$$2(z_t + m_t) + \mu_t = \mathcal{B}_t, (5.19)$$

where μ_t is a gauge invariant d-closed two form. This ambiguity in the definition of \mathcal{B}_t has already been noted above. With this identification, we conclude that \mathcal{D} is such that \mathcal{D} -closed one forms with values in Q correspond to infinitesimal moduli of the heterotic vacua.

5.3. Symmetries and trivial deformations. Let us now discuss trivial deformations. On the one hand, these should have an interpretation in terms of symmetries of the theory, *i.e.* diffeomorphisms and gauge transformations of A, θ and B. On the other hand, since $\mathring{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$, trivial deformations are given by

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{triv}} = \check{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{V},$$

where $\mathcal{V} = (v, \pi, \epsilon)^T$ is a section of $\mathcal{Q} = T^*Y \oplus \operatorname{End}(TY) \oplus \operatorname{End}(V)$. We show that $\mathcal{Z}_{\operatorname{triv}}$ can indeed be interpreted in terms of symmetries of the theory:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{triv} = \begin{pmatrix} y_{triv} \\ \kappa_{triv} \\ \alpha_{triv} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d_{\theta} \ v + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\pi) - \mathcal{F}(\epsilon) \\ d_{\tilde{\theta}}\pi + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(v) \\ d_{A}\epsilon + \mathcal{F}(v) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let us start with the last entry of this vector, where the first term, $d_A \epsilon$, corresponds to gauge transformations of the gauge field. To interpret the second term, note that under diffeomorphisms, F transforms as

$$\mathcal{L}_v F = v \, \lrcorner \, \mathrm{d}_A F + \mathrm{d}_A (v \, \lrcorner F) = \mathrm{d}_A (v \, \lrcorner F) = \mathrm{d}_A (\mathcal{F}(v)),$$

where we have used the definition of the map \mathcal{F} given at the beginning of this section. Thus, the second term corresponds to the change of the gauge field A under diffeomorphism. Analogously, we may interpret $d_{\tilde{\theta}}\pi$ as a gauge transformation, and $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(v)$ as a diffeomorphism, of the connection $\tilde{\theta}$ on the tangent bundle.

We move on to show that

$$y_{\text{triv }a} = d_{\theta} v_a + \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\pi)_a - \mathcal{F}(\epsilon)_a$$

corresponds to trivial deformations of the metric and B-field. Thinking of $y_{triv\,ab}$ as a matrix, the symmetric part corresponds to

$$y_{\text{triv}(ab)} = d_{\theta(b} v_{a)} = \nabla^{LC}_{(a} v_{b)}.$$

Comparing with Eqs. (3.16) and (3.3) (for more details see Proposition 3 and Theorem 8 of [49]), one concludes that these are trivial deformations of the metric. For the antisymmetric part, it is useful to define a two-form

$$y_{\text{triv}}^{\text{antisym}} \equiv \frac{1}{2} y_{\text{triv}[ab]} dx^{ab}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (d_{\theta} v_{a})_{b} dx^{ab} - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\text{tr}[\epsilon F] - \text{tr}[\pi \tilde{R}] \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{b} v_{a} - \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} v_{c}) dx^{ab} - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\text{tr}[\epsilon F] - \text{tr}[\pi \tilde{R}] \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} (dv + v \rfloor H) - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\text{tr}[\epsilon F] - \text{tr}[\pi \tilde{R}] \right).$$
(5.20)

This equation should be equivalent to

$$y_{\text{triv}}^{\text{antisym}} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{B}_{\text{triv}} - \mu_{\text{triv}}), \tag{5.21}$$

as is required by (5.13) in combination with (5.19). To prove this we must specify what \mathcal{B}_{triv} and μ_{triv} are. The latter is simple: since μ_t is a closed two-form, μ_{triv} must be exact. Physically, μ_{triv} corresponds to a gauge transformation of B (this gauge transformation is not to be confused with gauge transformations of the bundles).

We may determine \mathcal{B}_{triv} by requiring that it corresponds to changes in the physical fields B, A and $\tilde{\theta}$ that at most change H by a diffeomorphism. Concordantly, we compare $\partial_{triv}H$ from (5.15)

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\text{triv}} H &= \text{d}\mathcal{B}_{\text{triv}} + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\text{tr}[F \wedge \alpha_{\text{triv}}] - \text{tr}[\tilde{R} \wedge \kappa_{\text{triv}}] \right) \\ &= \text{d}\mathcal{B}_{\text{triv}} + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\text{tr}[F \wedge (\text{d}_A \epsilon + \mathcal{F}(v))] - \text{tr}[\tilde{R} \wedge (\text{d}_\theta \pi + \tilde{\mathcal{R}}(v))] \right) \\ &= \text{d} \left(\mathcal{B}_{\text{triv}} + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\text{tr}[F \epsilon] - \text{tr}[\tilde{R} \pi] \right) \right) - \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\text{tr}[\mathcal{F}(v) \wedge F] - \text{tr}[\tilde{\mathcal{R}}(v) \wedge \tilde{R}] \right) \end{split}$$

with the Lie derivative of *H*:

$$\mathcal{L}_{v}H = v \lrcorner dH + d(v \lrcorner H)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha'}{4} v \lrcorner \left(tr[F \wedge F] - tr[\tilde{R} \wedge \tilde{R}] \right) + d(v \lrcorner H)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(tr[g^{ab} v_{a} F_{bc} dx^{c} \wedge F] - tr[g^{ab} v_{a} \tilde{R}_{bc} dx^{c} \wedge \tilde{R}] \right) + d(v \lrcorner H)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(tr[\mathcal{F}(v) \wedge F] - tr[\tilde{\mathcal{R}}(v) \wedge \tilde{R}] \right) + d(v \lrcorner H).$$

We find that trivial transformations of H correspond to a diffeomorphism

$$\partial_{\text{triv}} H = \mathcal{L}_{-v} H$$

provided that

$$\mathcal{B}_{\text{triv}} = -v \, \lrcorner H - \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\text{tr}(F\epsilon) - \text{tr}(\tilde{R}\pi) \right),$$

up to a closed two form. Inserting this in (5.21), we thus reproduce (5.20). If follows that $y_{\text{triv}}^{\text{antisym}}$ corresponds to gauge transformations and diffeomorphisms of H. This concludes the proof that $\mathcal{Z}_{\text{triv}}$ can be interpreted in terms of symmetries of the theory.

5.4. The tangent space to the moduli space and α' corrections. We have shown so far that the tangent space TM to the moduli space M of heterotic G_2 structures $[(Y, \varphi), (V, A), (TY, \tilde{\theta}), H]$ is given by

$$\mathcal{T}M=H^1_{\check{\mathcal{D}}}(Y,\mathcal{Q}),$$

where \mathcal{D} is a covariant exterior derivative given in (5.5) which satisfies $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$, or equivalently, the bundle \mathcal{Q} has an instanton connection \mathcal{A} such that

$$\mathcal{D} = d_A = d + \mathcal{A}.$$

To close our analysis of the infinitesimal deformations of heterotic G_2 systems, we discuss how α' corrections might modify the results obtained above. In Theorem 6 we have assumed that the connections A and $\tilde{\theta}$ are instanton connections on V and TY respectively, which we know to be true to first order in α' . We want to see what happens when we relax these conditions. We note first that our discussion concerning the moduli of heterotic compactifications on integrable G_2 manifolds is accurate from a physical perspective to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$, provided the connection $d_{\tilde{\theta}}$ satisfies the instanton condition [75]. The naturalness of the structure however makes it very tempting to conjecture that the analysis holds to higher orders in α' as well, as is also expected in compacifications to four dimensions [16,75,76]. A detailed analysis of higher order α' effects is beyond the scope of the present paper. However, in the following theorem we find a remarkable result, which amounts to the converse of Theorem 6, in particular the Bianchi identity of the anomaly cancelation condition is *deduced* from the requirement that the operator \mathcal{D} defined by Eq. (5.5) satisfies the condition $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2=0$.

Theorem 7. Let Y be a manifold with a G_2 structure, V a bundle on Y with connection A, and TY the tangent bundle of Y with connection $\tilde{\theta}$. Let θ be a metric connection compatible with the G_2 structure, that is $\nabla \varphi = 0$ with connection symbols Γ such that $\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c$. Consider the exterior derivative \mathcal{D} defined by Eq. (5.5) and assume that $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$. Then $([Y, \varphi], [V, A], [TY, \tilde{\theta}], H)$ is a heterotic system. This statement is true to all orders in the perturbative α' expansion.

Proof. Consider again Eq. (5.6) and assume now that $\check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0$. We use the α' expansion to prove this theorem.

We begin with the (33) entry of Eq. (5.6), that is assume first that

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_{A}^{2}(\alpha) - \check{\mathcal{F}}^{2}(\alpha) = [\pi_{7}(F), \alpha] - \check{\mathcal{F}}^{2}(\alpha) = 0, \tag{5.22}$$

for all $\alpha \in \Lambda^p(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$. Because \mathcal{F}^2 is of order α' (see Eq. (5.7)), it must be the case that $\pi_7(F)$ is at least of order α' . Therefore, $F \in \Lambda^2_{14}(Y, \operatorname{End}(V))$ modulo α' corrections. By Eq. (A.28), this in turn means for the second term in Eq. (5.22), that $\check{\mathcal{F}}^2(\alpha) = 0$ modulo $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$, and hence the first term must also be $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$. In other words, F is in the **14** representation modulo α'^2 corrections. Employing (A.28), again we see that the second term of (5.22) is at least of $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^3)$. Continuing this iterative procedure order by order in α' we find that

$$\pi_7(F) = 0. (5.23)$$

Therefore, the two terms of Eq. 5.22 vanish separately. In particular $\check{d}_A^2 = 0$ if and only if Y has an integrable G_2 structure and A is an instanton connection on V. The proof

for the entry (22) of (5.6) corresponding to the connection $\tilde{\theta}$ on TY is similar, so $\tilde{\theta}$ is an instanton connection on TY. With this result and the proof of Theorem 6 all the other entries in (5.6) vanish, except the entry (11).

For the (11) entry of (5.6), we now assume that

$$\check{\mathbf{d}}_{\theta}^2 y + \check{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}}^2(y) - \check{\mathcal{F}}^2(y) = 0,$$

for all $y \in \Lambda^p(Y, T^*Y)$. This is equivalent to

$$\left(-R(\theta)_{ab} + \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_a \wedge F_b) - \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}_a \wedge \tilde{R}_b) \right) \right) \lrcorner \varphi = 0,$$

As the G_2 structure is integrable, we take ∇ to be a connection with totally antisymmetric torsion H (see Eqs. (2.43) and (2.44)). This together with the identity

$$R(\theta)_{ab} \lrcorner \varphi = -\frac{1}{4} (dH)_{cdab} \varphi^{cd}_{e} dx^{e}$$

in "Appendix B", gives

$$\begin{split} 0 &= (\mathrm{d}H)_{cdab} \, \varphi^{cd}{}_e \, \mathrm{d}x^e + \alpha' \left(\mathrm{tr}(F_a \wedge F_b) - \mathrm{tr}(\tilde{R}_a \wedge \tilde{R}_b) \right) \lrcorner \varphi \\ &= \left((\mathrm{d}H)_{cdab} + \alpha' \left(\mathrm{tr}(F_{ac} \, F_{bd}) - \mathrm{tr}(\tilde{R}_{ac} \, \tilde{R}_{bc}) \right) \right) \, \varphi^{cd}{}_e \, \mathrm{d}x^e \\ &= \left((\mathrm{d}H)_{cdab} - 3 \, \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\mathrm{tr}(F_{[cd} \, F_{ab]}) - \mathrm{tr}(\tilde{R}_{[cd} \, \tilde{R}_{ab]}) \right) \right) \, \varphi^{cd}{}_e \, \mathrm{d}x^e \end{split}$$

where in the last equality we have used the fact that both A and $\tilde{\theta}$ are instantons. Then

$$0 = \left(dH - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(tr(F \wedge F) - tr(\tilde{R} \wedge \tilde{R}) \right) \right)_{cdab} \varphi^{cd}{}_{e} dx^{e}.$$
 (5.24)

Consider the four form

$$\Sigma = \mathrm{d}H - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\mathrm{tr}(F \wedge F) - \mathrm{tr}(R \wedge F) \right)$$

and the associated three form Σ_a with values in T^*Y . Then Eq. (5.24) is equivalent to $\Sigma_a = 0$ to and hence $\Sigma = 0$. Note that, in this way we have also proved that the Bianchi identity of the anomaly cancelation condition does not receive higher order α' corrections. \square

We remark that Theorem 7 relies heavily on the α' expansion. Mathematically, there is no reason to assume that such an expansion exists. It is tempting to speculate that the form of the covariant derivative \mathcal{D} on \mathcal{Q} is the correct operator including all quantum corrections, also the non-pertubative ones. This would imply that the quantum corrected geometry is encoded in an instanton connection on \mathcal{Q} even if the connections A and $\tilde{\theta}$ need not be instantons anymore.

6. Conclusions and Outlook

This paper has been devoted to the analysis of the infinitesimal "massless" deformations of heterotic string compactifications on a seven dimensional compact manifold Y of integrable G_2 structure. We have seen that the heterotic supersymmetry conditions together with the heterotic Bianchi identity can be put in terms of a differential \mathcal{D} on a bundle $\mathcal{Q} = T^*Y \oplus \operatorname{End}(TY) \oplus \operatorname{End}(V)$. That is,

$$\check{\mathcal{D}}: \check{\Lambda}^p(\mathcal{Q}) \to \check{\Lambda}^{p+1}(\mathcal{Q}), \quad \check{\mathcal{D}}^2 = 0,$$
(6.1)

where $\check{\Lambda}^p(\mathcal{Q})$ is an appropriate sub-complex of \mathcal{Q} -valued forms. Furthermore, the space of infinitesimal deformations of such compactifications is parametrised by

$$\mathcal{T}M = \check{H}^{1}_{\check{\mathcal{D}}}(\mathcal{Q}),\tag{6.2}$$

where TM denotes the tangent space of the full moduli space.

Our deformation analysis naturally incorporates fluctuations of the heterotic B-field. In fact, due to the anomaly cancelation condition, we could only translate the heterotic G_2 system into $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ -closed \mathcal{Q} -valued one-forms if these one-forms included B-field fluctuations. Put differently, to disentangle geometric and B-field deformations we must decompose the one forms with values in TY into two sets $\mathcal{S}(TY)$ and $\mathcal{A}(TY)$, which correspond to symmetric and antisymmetric matrices respectively. This decomposition does not serve to simplify the analysis of the deformation, and in fact seems unnatural from the perspective of \mathcal{Q} . We should remark that for the G_2 holonomy, the inclusion of $\mathcal{A}(TY)$ among the infinitesimal moduli is natural but not necessary [49].

Another interesting point regards the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ corrections to the H-flux Bianchi identity, which arise as a consequence of an anomaly cancelation condition in the world-sheet description of the heterotic string. We observe that these $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ corrections are really imposed already in our geometric analysis of the supergravity system, as a necessary constraint to obtain a good deformation theory. This provides an alternative argument for why the α' corrections of heterotic supergravity take the form observed by Bergshoeff and de Roo [77], which could be of use when deriving higher order corrections, without need of analysing the world sheet description of the string.

The deformations of heterotic G_2 systems are similar to the deformations of the six dimensional holomorphic Calabi–Yau and Strominger–Hull system as it appears in the papers [11–16,76,78], though there are some notable differences. In particular, in contrast to the Atiyah-like holomorphic extension bundle of the Strominger–Hull system, $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ is not upper triangular with respect to the components of \mathcal{Q} , and hence (\mathcal{Q}, D) does not form an extension bundle in the usual sense. This obscures some properties of the three-dimensional low-energy effective field theory, *i.e.* the relation between the massless spectrum and cohomology groups which exist in the holomorphic case. Extension bundles also fit naturally into the heterotic generalised geometry developed in reference [56] (see also [79]). We leave it as an open question whether an analogue of Schur's lemma can be used to bring $\check{\mathcal{D}}$ to the required form, *i.e.* by projecting the complex $\check{\Lambda}^p(\mathcal{Q})$ onto further sub-representations. Deeper investigations into the properties of the connection \mathcal{D} and the corresponding structure group of (\mathcal{Q}, D) may provide a better understanding of the theory, which could clarify some of the points mentioned here.

An interesting connection between the heterotic G_2 system and the six dimensional Strominger–Hull system arises by embedding the latter into the former. This implies that the seven dimensional structure unifies the holomorphic constraints, conformally

balanced condition and the Yang-Mills conditions of the Strominger-Hull system. We plan to study this unification, and the insight it may bring to the deformations of the Strominger-Hull and other six-dimensional heterotic systems, in the future.

We have determined the infinitesimal moduli of heterotic G_2 systems, and a natural next question concerns that of higher order deformations and obstructions. On physical grounds, it is expected that the finite deformations can be parametrised as solutions \mathcal{X} of a Maurer–Cartan equation

$$\check{\mathcal{D}}\mathcal{X} + \frac{1}{2}[\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}] = 0, \quad \mathcal{X} \in \check{\Lambda}^{1}(\mathcal{Q}), \tag{6.3}$$

for some differential graded Lie algebra (DGLA). What exactly the Lie bracket

$$[,]: \check{\Lambda}^p(\mathcal{Q}) \times \check{\Lambda}^q(\mathcal{Q}) \to \check{\Lambda}^{p+q}(\mathcal{Q}), \tag{6.4}$$

and the corresponding DGLA is remains to be determined.⁶ In this paper we have laid the foundations for further investigations into such finite deformations, and we plan to exploit this groundwork in a future publication [55].

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank Anthony Ashmore, Andreas Braun, Philip Candelas, Marc-Antoine Fiset, Mario García-Fernández, Chris Hull, Spiro Karigiannis, Ulf Lindström, Jock McOrist, Ruben Minasian, George Papadopoulos, Michela Petrini, Brent Pym, Carlos Shahbazi and Carl Tipler for interesting discussions. ML and XD thank the Mainz Institute for Theoretical Physics (MITP) for hospitality when part of this work was completed. ML also acknowledges partial support from the COST Short Term Scientific Mission MP1210-32976, and thanks Oxford University for hospitality. EES thanks the CERN short visitor program, and the CERN Theory Group for hospitality when part of this work was completed. The work of XD is supported in part by the EPSRC grant EP/J010790/1. ML's research is financed by the Swedish Research Council (VR) under Grant number 2016-03873. The work of EES, made within the Labex Ilp (reference Anr-10-Labx-63), was supported by French state funds managed by the Agence nationale de la recherche, as part of the programme Investissements d'avenir under the reference Anr-11-Idex-0004-02.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

A. Identities and Lemmas

We have used a number of identities in this paper, and collect some of them in this appendix. Many of these formulas can be found in the literature, *e.g.* [60], and further relevant formulas can be found in *e.g.* [49] and [48].

The operator \Box denotes the contraction of forms, and is defined by

$$\alpha \, \lrcorner \beta = \frac{1}{k! \, p!} \, \alpha^{m_1 \dots m_k} \, \beta_{m_1 \dots m_k n_1 \dots n_p} \mathrm{d} x^{n_1} \dots \mathrm{d} x^{n_p}, \tag{A.1}$$

where α is any k-form and β is any p + k-form. It is easy to deduce the identity

$$\alpha \, \lrcorner \beta = (-1)^{p(d-p-k)} \, * (\alpha \wedge *\beta). \tag{A.2}$$

⁶ We expect that there exist a parametrisation where the deformation problem is governed by a DGLA, but from a mathematical standpoint this is not guaranteed. The deformations might instead be described by an L_{∞} -algebra, including non-vanishing Jacobi identities and higher brackets.

For odd d we have

$$\alpha \, \lrcorner \beta = (-1)^{pk} \, * (\alpha \wedge *\beta). \tag{A.3}$$

Contractions between φ and ψ give [60]

$$\varphi^{abc}\,\varphi_{abc} = 42,\tag{A.4}$$

$$\varphi^{acd} \, \varphi_{bcd} = 6 \, \delta_b^a, \tag{A.5}$$

$$\varphi^{eab}\,\varphi_{ecd} = 2\,\delta^a_{lc}\,\delta^b_{dl} + \psi^{ab}_{cd}.\tag{A.6}$$

$$\varphi^{ad_1d_2} \, \psi_{bcd_1d_2} = 4 \, \varphi^a_{bc}, \tag{A.7}$$

$$\varphi^{abf} \psi_{cdef} = -6 \delta^{[a}_{[c} \varphi^{b]}_{de]}, \tag{A.8}$$

$$\psi^{abcd}\psi_{abcd} = 7 \cdot 24 = 168,\tag{A.9}$$

$$\psi^{acde}\psi_{bcde} = 24\,\delta_b^a,\tag{A.10}$$

$$\psi^{abe_1e_2}\psi_{cde_1e_2} = 8\,\delta^a_{lc}\,\delta^b_{dl} + 2\,\psi^{ab}_{cd},\tag{A.11}$$

$$\psi^{a_1 a_2 a_3 c} \psi_{b_1 b_2 b_3 c} = 6 \, \delta^{a_1}_{[b_1} \, \delta^{a_2}_{b_2} \, \delta^{a_3}_{b_3]} + 9 \, \psi^{[a_1 a_2}_{[b_1 b_2} \, \delta^{a_3]}_{b_3]} - \varphi^{a_1 a_2 a_3} \, \varphi_{b_1 b_2 b_3}, \tag{A.12}$$

$$\psi^{a_1 a_2 a_3 a_4} \psi_{b_1 b_2 b_3 b_4} = 24 \, \delta^{a_1}_{[b_1} \, \delta^{a_2}_{b_2} \, \delta^{a_3}_{b_3} \, \delta^{a_4}_{b_4} \tag{A.13}$$

$$+72\,\psi^{[a_{1}a_{2}}{}_{[b_{1}b_{2}}\,\delta^{a_{3}}_{b_{3}}\,\delta^{a_{4}]}_{b_{4}]}-16\,\varphi^{[a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}}\,\varphi_{[b_{1}b_{2}b_{3}}\,\delta^{a_{4}]}_{b_{4}]}, \tag{A.14}$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{g}}{2} \varphi_{acd} \epsilon^{cdb_1 b_2 b_3 b_4 b_5} = 5 \, \delta_a^{[b_1} \, \psi^{b_2 b_3 b_4 b_5]},\tag{A.15}$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{g}}{3!} \psi_{ac_1c_2c_3} \epsilon^{c_1c_2c_3b_1b_2b_3b_4} = -4 \delta_a^{[b_1} \varphi^{b_2b_3b_4]}. \tag{A.16}$$

Let α be a one form (possibly with values in some bundle)

$$\varphi \rfloor (\alpha \wedge \varphi) = (\alpha \rfloor \psi) \rfloor \psi = -4 \alpha, \tag{A.17}$$

$$\psi \, \lrcorner (\alpha \wedge \psi) = (\alpha \, \lrcorner \varphi) \, \lrcorner \varphi = 3 \, \alpha, \tag{A.18}$$

$$\varphi (\alpha \wedge \psi) = (\alpha \varphi) \psi = 2 \alpha \varphi.$$
 (A.19)

Let α be a two form (possibly with values in some bundle)

$$\varphi (\alpha \wedge \varphi) = -(\alpha \psi) \psi = 2\alpha + \alpha \psi, \tag{A.20}$$

$$\psi \, \lrcorner (\alpha \wedge \psi) = (\alpha \, \lrcorner \varphi) \, \lrcorner \varphi = 3 \, \pi_7(\alpha) = \alpha + \alpha \, \lrcorner \psi, \tag{A.21}$$

$$(\alpha \, \lrcorner \varphi) \, \lrcorner \psi = \frac{1}{2} \, \alpha_a^{\ d} \, \varphi_{bcd} \, \mathrm{d}x^{abc}. \tag{A.22}$$

Let α be a two form in $\Lambda^2_{14}(Y)$ (possibly with values in some bundle). We have

$$\alpha \wedge \psi_a = -\alpha_a \wedge \psi. \tag{A.23}$$

Useful lemmas. In the main part of the paper we have used some formula's without proof in order to ease the flow of the text. Here we prove some of the relevant formulas, collected in a couple of lemmas.

Lemma 3. Let $\lambda \in \Lambda^3_{27}$. Then

$$*\lambda = -\frac{1}{4} \lambda_{ab}^{e} \varphi_{ecd} \, \mathrm{d}x^{abcd}, \tag{A.24}$$

$$\lambda_{a[bc} \psi_{def]}^{a} = 0. \tag{A.25}$$

Proof.

$$\begin{split} *\left(-\frac{1}{4}\,\lambda_{ab}{}^{e}\,\varphi_{ecd}\,\mathrm{d}x^{abcd}\right) &= \frac{\sqrt{g}}{4!}\,\lambda^{abf}\,\varphi_{f}{}^{cd}\,\epsilon_{abcde_{1}e_{2}e_{3}}\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}}\\ &= -\frac{5}{12}\,\lambda^{abc}\,g_{c[a}\,\psi_{be_{1}e_{2}e_{3}]}\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}}\\ &= -\frac{1}{4}\,\lambda^{ab}_{e_{1}}\,\psi_{e_{2}e_{3}ab}\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}} \end{split}$$

where we have used Eq. (A.15) in the first line. Representing λ in terms of a symmetric traceless matrix h as

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{2} h_b^a \varphi_{acd} \, \mathrm{d} x^{bcd},$$

we have

$$\begin{split} *\left(-\frac{1}{4}\lambda_{ab}{}^{e}\,\varphi_{ecd}\,\mathrm{d}x^{abcd}\right) &= -\frac{3}{4}\,h^{c}_{[a}\,\varphi_{be_{1}]c}\,\psi^{ab}{}_{e_{2}e_{3}}\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{4}\,(h^{c}_{e_{1}}\,\varphi_{abc} + 2\,h^{c}_{a}\,\varphi_{be_{1}c})\,\psi^{ab}{}_{e_{2}e_{3}}\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{4}\,(4\,h^{c}_{e_{1}}\,\varphi_{ce_{2}e_{3}} - 12\,h^{a}_{c}\,g_{e_{1}d}\,\delta_{[a}{}^{[d}\,\varphi^{c]}{}_{e_{2}e_{3}]})\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}} \\ &= -2\,\lambda + h^{a}_{c}\,g_{e_{1}d}\,(\delta_{a}{}^{[d}\,\varphi^{c]}{}_{e_{2}e_{3}} + 2\,\delta_{e_{2}}{}^{[d}\,\varphi^{c]}{}_{e_{3}a})\,\mathrm{d}x^{e_{1}e_{2}e_{3}} \\ &= -2\,\lambda + 3\,\lambda = \lambda. \end{split}$$

where we have used identities (A.7) and (A.8). The second identity follows easily by showing that

$$*(\lambda_{abf} \, \psi^f{}_{cde} \, \mathrm{d} x^{abcde}) = 0.$$

Lemma 4. Let $\alpha \in \Lambda^2(Y, TY)$. Then

$$\pi_7(i_\alpha(\psi)) = -(\pi_{14}(\alpha^a))_{ab} \,\mathrm{d} x^b \wedge \psi,\tag{A.26}$$

$$\pi_{14}(i_{\alpha}(\psi)) = i_{\pi_{7}(\alpha)}(\psi).$$
 (A.27)

Proof.

$$i_{\alpha}(\psi) = \alpha^{a} \wedge \psi_{a} = \pi_{7}(\alpha^{a}) \wedge \psi_{a} + \pi_{14}(\alpha^{a}) \wedge \psi_{a}$$
$$= \pi_{7}(\alpha^{a}) \wedge \psi_{a} - (\pi_{14}(\alpha^{a}))_{ab} dx^{b} \wedge \psi,$$

where we have used identity (A.23). Contracting the first term with ψ we find

$$\psi \lrcorner (\pi_7(\alpha^a) \wedge \psi_a) = 0,$$

hence Eqs. (A.26) and (A.27) follow.

Lemma 5. Let α and β be two forms in Λ^2_{14} . Then

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{2} \alpha^a \wedge \beta_{ab} \, \mathrm{d}x^b \in \Lambda^2_{14}(Y), \tag{A.28}$$

where

$$\alpha^a = g^{ab} \alpha_{bc} dx^c$$
.

Proof. To prove Eq. (A.28), we prove that $\gamma \, \lrcorner \varphi = 0$. We have

$$\gamma \, \lrcorner \varphi = \frac{1}{2} \, \alpha_b^a \, \beta_{ac} \, \varphi^{bc}{}_d \, \mathrm{d}x^d = -\beta^{ac} \, \alpha_{ba} \, \varphi^b{}_{cd} \, \mathrm{d}x^d$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \, \beta^{ac} \, (3 \, \alpha_{b[a} \, \varphi^b{}_{cd]} - \alpha_{bc} \, \varphi^b{}_{da} - \alpha_{bd} \, \varphi^b{}_{ac}) \, \mathrm{d}x^d.$$

The last term vanishes as $\beta \lrcorner \varphi = 0$. The first term also vanishes by Lemma 4 of [49]. Then

$$\gamma \lrcorner \varphi = \frac{1}{2} \beta^{ac} \alpha_{bc} \varphi^b{}_{da} dx^d = \frac{1}{2} \alpha^c_b \beta_{ca} \varphi^{ab}{}_{d} dx^d = -\gamma \lrcorner \varphi,$$

and therefore $\gamma \lrcorner \varphi = 0$. \square

B. Curvature Identities

In this appendix we prove curvature identities that hold for the connections on manifolds with G_2 structure. We focus on two connections: the G_2 holonomy connection ∇ with totally antisymmetric torsion H, defined in Sect. 2.1.2, and the connection d_{θ} , defined in Sect. 2.2.2. We will, in particular, show that d_{θ} is not an instanton connection.

Let *Y* be a Riemannian manifold and ∇ a connection on *Y* with connection symbols Γ and corresponding spin connection Ω . The curvature $R(\Gamma)$ of the connection ∇ is defined by

$$R(\Gamma)_{a}{}^{b} = \frac{1}{2} (R(\Gamma)_{a}{}^{b})_{cd} dx^{cd} = (\partial_{c} \Gamma_{da}{}^{b} + \Gamma_{ce}{}^{b} \Gamma_{da}{}^{e}) dx^{cd}$$
$$= -(\partial_{c} \Omega_{d\alpha\beta} + \Omega_{c\alpha\gamma} \Omega_{d}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\beta}) e_{a}{}^{\alpha} e^{b\beta}.$$

If η is a spinor on Y we have

$$[\nabla_a, \nabla_b] \eta = -\frac{1}{4} (R(\Gamma)_{cd})_{ab} \gamma^{cd} \eta - T_{ab}{}^c \nabla_c \eta,$$

where T is the torsion of the connection and γ^a are the γ matrices generating the Clifford algebra of Spin(7).

Proposition 3. Let Y be a Riemannian manifold, and let ∇ be a metric connection on Y with connection symbols

$$\Gamma_{ab}{}^c = \Gamma_{ab}^{LC\ c} + A_{ab}{}^c.$$

Then

$$R(\Gamma)_a{}^b - R(\Gamma^{LC})_a{}^b = (\nabla^{LC}_c A_{da}{}^b + A_{ce}{}^b A_{da}{}^e) \,\mathrm{d}x^{cd}.$$

Proof. Consider first the curvature of the connection ∇ with connection symbols Γ , which can be written as

$$\Gamma_{ab}{}^c = \Gamma_{ab}^{LCc} + A_{ab}{}^c.$$

Then

$$R(\Gamma)_{a}{}^{b} - R(\Gamma^{LC})_{a}{}^{b} = (\partial_{c}A_{da}{}^{b} + \Gamma^{LC}_{ce}{}^{b}A_{da}{}^{e} + A_{ce}{}^{b}\Gamma^{LC}_{da}{}^{e} + A_{ce}{}^{b}A_{da}{}^{e}) dx^{cd}$$
$$= (\nabla^{LC}_{c}A_{da}{}^{b} + A_{ce}{}^{b}A_{da}{}^{e}) dx^{cd}.$$

Suppose now that Y admits a well defined nowhere vanishing Majorana spinor η , and therefore has a G_2 structure determined by

$$\varphi_{abd} = -i \, \eta^{\dagger} \, \gamma_{abc} \, \eta.$$

Suppose

$$\nabla_a \eta = 0$$
,

where ∇ is a connection with G_2 holonomy on Y. Then the curvature of the connection ∇ satisfies

$$(R(\Gamma)_{ab})_{cd} \varphi^{ab}_{e} = 0.$$

Thus, ∇ is an instanton connection on Y. In particular, this holds for the unique G_2 holonomy connection with totally antisymmetric torsion $A_{abc} = \frac{1}{2} H_{abc}$. We will restrict to this connection in the following.

On manifolds with a G_2 structure we have defined a connection d_θ in terms of a G_2 compatible connection Γ which acts on forms with values in TY by

$$d_{\theta} \Delta^{a} = d\Delta^{a} + \theta_{b}^{a} \wedge \Delta^{b},$$

where $\theta_a{}^b = \Gamma_{ac}{}^b \, \mathrm{d} x^c$. Note that this connection is not compatible with the G_2 structure and that it is not necessarily metric either. The curvature $R(\theta)$ of this connection is

$$R(\theta)_a{}^b = \mathrm{d}\theta_a{}^b + \theta_c{}^b \wedge \theta_a{}^c = (\partial_c \Gamma_{ad}{}^b + \Gamma_{ec}{}^b \Gamma_{ad}{}^e) \, \mathrm{d}x^{cd}.$$

Proposition 4. Let Y be a manifold with a G_2 structure determined by φ . Let ∇ be a metric connection compatible with the G_2 structure (that is $\nabla \varphi = 0$) and with connection symbols

$$\Gamma_{ab}{}^c = \Gamma_{ab}^{LCc} + \frac{1}{2} H_{ab}{}^c.$$

Then the curvature of the connection d_{θ} *satisfies*

$$R(\theta)_a{}^b - R(\Gamma^{LC})_a{}^b = \frac{1}{4} (2\nabla_c^{LC} H_{ad}{}^b + H_{ec}{}^b H_{ad}{}^e) dx^{cd}.$$

Proof. We have, from the definitions of the curvatures of the connections,

$$R(\theta)_{a}{}^{b} - R(\Gamma^{LC})_{a}{}^{b} = \frac{1}{4} (2\partial_{c} H_{ad}{}^{b} + 2\Gamma^{LC}_{ec}{}^{b} H_{ad}{}^{e} + 2H_{ec}{}^{b} \Gamma^{LC}_{ad}{}^{e} + H_{ec}{}^{b} H_{ad}{}^{e}) dx^{cd}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} (2\nabla^{LC}_{c} H_{ad}{}^{b} + H_{ec}{}^{b} H_{ad}{}^{e}) dx^{cd}.$$

Proposition 5. If the connection Γ has totally antisymmetric torsion, the curvatures of the connection ∇ and d_{θ} are related by the identity

$$(R(\Gamma)_{cd})_{ab} - (R(\theta)_{ab})_{cd} = \frac{1}{2} (dH)_{abcd}.$$

Proof. Recalling that

$$(R(\Gamma^{LC})_{cd})_{ab} = (R(\Gamma^{LC})_{ab})_{cd},$$

we find

$$\begin{split} (R(\Gamma)_{cd})_{ab} - (R(\theta)_{ab})_{cd} &= (\nabla^{LC}_{[a} H_{b]cd} - \nabla^{LC}_{[c} H_{[a|d]b}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(H_{aed} H_{bc}{}^e - H_{bed} H_{ac}{}^e - H_{ecb} H_{ad}{}^e + H_{edb} H_{ac}{}^e \right) \\ &= 2 \nabla^{LC}_{[a} H_{bcd]} = 2 \, \partial_{[a} H_{bcd]} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{d} H)_{abcd}. \end{split}$$

Proposition 6. The Bianchi identity of the anomaly cancelation condition implies

$$R(\theta)_{ab} \, \lrcorner \varphi = \frac{\alpha'}{8} \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_{ac} \, F_{bd}) - \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}_{ac} \, \tilde{R}_{bd}) \right) \varphi^{cd}_{e} \, \mathrm{d}x^{e},$$

where \tilde{R} is the curvature of an instanton connection on TY.

Proof. Recall that

$$(R(\Gamma)_{cd})_{ab}\,\varphi^{cde}=0.$$

Then, by the previous proposition

$$R(\theta)_{ab} \, \lrcorner \varphi = -\frac{1}{4} \, (\mathrm{d}H)_{cdab} \, \varphi^{cd}_{e} \, \mathrm{d}x^e.$$

By the Bianchi identity

$$(dH)_{cdab} \varphi^{cd}_{e} = \frac{\alpha'}{4} 3! \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_{[cd} F_{ab]}) - \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}_{[cd} \tilde{R}_{ab]}) \right) \varphi^{cd}_{e}$$
$$= -\alpha' \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_{ac} F_{bd}) - \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}_{ac} \tilde{R}_{bd}) \right) \varphi^{cd}_{e}$$

where in the last line we have used the fact that $F \lrcorner \varphi = 0$ and $\tilde{R} \lrcorner \varphi = 0$. Therefore

$$R(\theta)_{ab} \, \lrcorner \varphi = \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr}(F_{ac} \, F_{bd}) - \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}_{ac} \, \tilde{R}_{bd}) \right) \varphi^{cd}_{\ e} \, \mathrm{d}x^e.$$

Note that this means that the connection θ is not an instanton. To expand on this fact, note that the right hand side of this equation is zero if the F equals \tilde{R} . In the string compactification literature this is known as the standard embedding of the gauge bundle in the tangent bundle, and leads to a vanishing flux H. Thus, we have reduced to a G_2 holonomy compactification, where d_{θ} is in fact identical with the Levi–Civita connection. The reader is referred to [49] for more details on this case.

Curvature and covariant derivatives of torsion classes. We now collect some useful identities between the covariant derivatives of the torsion classes and the curvature $R(\theta)$.

Proposition 7. Let Y be a manifold with a G_2 structure (not necessarily integrable), and let ∇ be a metric connection compatible with this G_2 structure, that is

$$\nabla \varphi = 0, \quad \nabla \psi = 0.$$

Then.

$$(\nabla_a \tau_0) \psi + 3 (\nabla_a \tau_1) \wedge \varphi + \nabla_a * \tau_3 = \frac{1}{2} R(\theta)_a{}^b \wedge \varphi_{cdb} \, \mathrm{d}x^{cd}, \tag{B.1}$$

$$4(\nabla_a \tau_1) \wedge \psi - \nabla_a \tau_2 \wedge \varphi = -\frac{1}{3!} R(\theta)_a{}^b \wedge \psi_{cdeb} \, \mathrm{d}x^{cde}, \tag{B.2}$$

where

$$R(\theta)_a{}^b = d\theta_a{}^b + \theta_c{}^b \wedge \theta_a{}^c,$$

is the curvature of the connection d_{θ} .

Proof. We begin by taking the covariant derivative of the integrability Eqs. (2.19) and (2.20). We find

$$\nabla_{a} d\varphi = (\nabla_{a} \tau_{0}) \psi + 3 (\nabla_{a} \tau_{1}) \wedge \varphi + \nabla_{a} * \tau_{3},$$

$$\nabla_{a} d\psi = 4 (\nabla_{a} \tau_{1}) \wedge \psi + \nabla_{a} * \tau_{2}.$$

For the first equation, Lemma 8 of [49] together with a bit of algebra leads to the equation

$$d\partial_a \varphi = \frac{1}{2} R_a{}^b(\theta) \wedge \varphi_{cdb} dx^{cd} - \frac{1}{3!} \theta_a{}^b \wedge (d\varphi)_{cdeb} dx^{cde}.$$

Then Eq. (B.1) follows from this together with

$$\nabla_a d\varphi = \partial_a d\varphi + \frac{1}{3!} \theta_a{}^b \wedge (d\varphi)_{cdeb} dx^{cde}.$$

The proof of Eq. (B.2) is analogous.

Note in particular that from (B.1)–(B.2) we can derive the covariant derivatives of the torsion classes soely in terms of the curvature $R(\theta)$. Note also that if the G_2 structure is integrable, Eq. (B.2) implies that there is a constraint on the curvature of the connection θ

$$\pi_{14}\left(R(\theta)_a{}^b \wedge \psi_b\right) = 0.$$

Then by Eq. (A.27), we find that the curvature of the connection θ must satisfy

$$\check{R}_a^b(\theta) \wedge \psi_b = 0. \tag{B.3}$$

C. Heterotic Supergravity and Equations of Motion

In this appendix we briefly review heterotic supergravity, the Killing spinor equations and comment on the corresponding equations of motion. Recall first the bosonic part of the action [77]

$$S_{B} = \int \sqrt{-g} e^{-2\phi} d^{10}x \left[\mathcal{R} + 4(\mathrm{d}\phi)^{2} - \frac{1}{12} \mathcal{H}_{\mu\nu\rho} \mathcal{H}^{\mu\nu\rho} \right.$$
$$\left. - \frac{\alpha'}{8} \mathrm{tr} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{\alpha'}{8} \mathrm{tr} R(\tilde{\theta})_{\mu\nu} \mathrm{tr} R(\tilde{\theta})^{\mu\nu} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^{2}), \tag{C.1}$$

where $\{\mu, \nu, \ldots\}$ denote ten dimensional indices, \mathcal{R} is the Ricci scalar, ϕ is the dilaton, and \mathcal{H} is the Neveu-Schwarz three-form flux given by

$$\mathcal{H} = dB + \frac{\alpha'}{4} (\mathcal{C}S[A] - \mathcal{C}S[\tilde{\theta}]), \tag{C.2}$$

where *B* is the Kalb-Ramond two-form. Under gauge transformations $\{\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2\}$ of $\{A, \tilde{\theta}\}$ respectively, the *B* field is required to transform as

$$\delta B = -\frac{\alpha'}{4} \Big(\operatorname{tr} \left(dA \epsilon_1 \right) - \operatorname{tr} \left(d\tilde{\theta} \epsilon_2 \right) \Big), \tag{C.3}$$

in order for \mathcal{H} to remain gauge-invariant [80].

The supersymmetry conditions read [77,81]

$$\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon = (\nabla_{\mu}^{LC} + \frac{1}{8}\mathcal{H}_{\mu\nu\lambda}\gamma^{\nu\lambda})\epsilon = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^{2})$$

$$(\nabla^{LC} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{H} - \partial\phi)\epsilon = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^{2})$$

$$\not F \epsilon = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'), \tag{C.4}$$

where ψ_{μ} is the gravitino, ρ is the modified dilatino and χ is the gaugino. Here the last condition is only required at zeroth order since the gauge field only appears at first order in the theory. These supersymmetry conditions are accurate, provided we also choose the connection $\tilde{\theta}$ to satisfy an instanton condition [75,82]

$$R(\tilde{\theta}) \epsilon = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'). \tag{C.5}$$

In the above, we have defined for a p-form α

$$\phi = \frac{1}{p!} \alpha_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_p} \gamma^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_p}. \tag{C.6}$$

 G_2 Reductions and equations of motion. We wish to reduce the supersymmetry transformations (C.4) on spacetimes of the form

$$M_{10} = M_3 \times Y,\tag{C.7}$$

where M_3 is maximally symmetric. We suppose that Y admits a well defined nowhere vanishing Majorana spinor η , and therefore has a G_2 structure determined by

$$\varphi_{abd} = -i \eta^{\dagger} \gamma_{abc} \eta, \quad \psi = *\varphi.$$

Using this, one arrives at the supersymmetry conditions [5–7,37,39]

$$d\varphi = 2 \, d\phi \wedge \varphi - *H - f \, \psi, \tag{C.8}$$

$$d\psi = 2 d\phi \wedge \psi, \tag{C.9}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} * f = H \wedge \psi, \tag{C.10}$$

$$0 = F \wedge \psi, \tag{C.11}$$

where now the three-form H and the constant f are components of the ten-dimensional flux \mathcal{H} , which lie along Y and the three-dimensional, maximally symmetric world-volume, respectively. We have also restricted the bundle to the internal geometry. Generic solutions to these equations imply that Y has an integrable G_2 structure where τ_1 is exact.

It can be shown that for compactifications of the form

$$M_{10} = M_d \times X_{10-d},$$
 (C.12)

where M_d is maximally symmetric, provided the flux equation of motion is satisfied, the supersymmetry equations will also imply the equations of motion [83]. Note that the authors of [83] assume M_d to be Minkowski, but the generalisation to AdS is straight forward. In our case, the flux equation of motion on the spacetime (C.7) reduces to

$$d(e^{-2\phi} * H) = 0, (C.13)$$

which can easily be checked is satisfied from (C.8)–(C.9).

Comments on $\tilde{\theta}$ and field redefinitions. Let us make a couple of comments concerning the connection $\tilde{\theta}$ appearing in both the action and the definition of H Eq. (C.2), often referred to as the anomaly cancellation condition. In deriving the heterotic action, Bergshoeff and de Roo [77] used the fact that $(\hat{\theta}, \psi^+)$ transforms as an SO(9, 1) Yang-Mills supermultiplet modulo α' corrections. Here θ is the connection whose connection symbols read

$$\theta_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = \Gamma_{\nu\mu}{}^{\rho},\tag{C.14}$$

where the Γ 's denote the connection symbols of ∇ . The connection $\hat{\theta}$ then denotes an appropriate fermionic correction to θ , while ψ^+ is the supercovariant gravitino curvature. Modulo $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$ -corrections, they could then construct a supersymmetric theory with curvature squared corrections, simply by adding the appropriate SO(9, 1)-Yang-Mills action to the theory. The resulting bosonic action then uses θ rather than $\tilde{\theta}$.

In the bulk of the paper we have replaced θ in with a more general connection $\tilde{\theta}$ in the appropriate places. Ambiguities surrounding the connection $\tilde{\theta}$ have been discussed extensively in the literature before [75,82,84–92]. In particular, it has been argued that deforming this connection can equivalently be interpreted as a field redefinition, though care most be taken when performing such redefinitions as they in general also lead to corrections to the supersymmetry transformations and equations of motion. In particular, we argued in [75] that in order to preserve (C.4) as the correct supersymmetry conditions,

 $^{^7}$ The flux component f determines the cosmological constant of the three-dimensional spacetime through the Einstein equation of motion. A zero/non-zero f gives Minkowski/AdS spacetimes respectively.

one must choose $\tilde{\theta}$ to satisfy the instanton condition modulo α' -corrections. Note that although θ satisfies the instanton condition to zeroth order in α' , it generically fails to do so once higher order corrections are included. Indeed, this was crucial for the mathematical structure presented in this paper.

References

- 1. Strominger, A.: Superstrings with torsion. Nucl. Phys. B 274, 253 (1983)
- 2. Hull, C.: Compactifications of the heterotic superstring. Phys. Lett. B 178, 357 (1986)
- Candelas, P., Horowitz, G.T., Strominger, A., Witten, E.: Vacuum configurations for superstrings. Nucl. Phys. B 258, 46–74 (1985)
- Gunaydin, M., Nicolai, H.: Seven-dimensional octonionic Yang-Mills instanton and its extension to an heterotic string soliton. Phys. Lett. B 351, 169–172 (1995) arXiv:hep-th/9502009. [Addendum: Phys. Lett. B 376, 329 (1996)]
- Gauntlett, J.P., Kim, N., Martelli, D., Waldram, D.: Five-branes wrapped on SLAG three cycles and related geometry. JHEP 0111, 018 (2001). arXiv:hep-th/0110034
- Friedrich, T., Ivanov, S.: Parallel spinors and connections with skew-symmetric torsion in string theory. Asian J. Math. 6, 303–336 (2001). arXiv:math/0102142
- Friedrich, T., Ivanov, S.: Killing spinor equations in dimension 7 and geometry of integrable G₂-manifolds. J. Geom. Phys. 48, 1–11 (2003). arXiv:math/0112201
- Gauntlett, J.P., Martelli, D., Waldram, D.: Superstrings with intrinsic torsion. Phys. Rev. D 69, 086002 (2004). arXiv:hep-th/0302158
- Ivanov, P., Ivanov, S.: SU(3) instantons and G(2), spin(7) heterotic string solitons. Commun. Math. Phys. 259, 79–102 (2005). arXiv:math/0312094
- 10. Candelas, P., Ossa, X.de la: Moduli space of Calabi-Yau manifolds. Nucl. Phys. B 355, 455-481 (1991)
- Anderson, L.B., Gray, J., Lukas, A., Ovrut, B.: Stability walls in heterotic theories. JHEP 0909, 026 (2009). arXiv:0905.1748
- Anderson, L.B., Gray, J., Lukas, A., Ovrut, B.: The Atiyah class and complex structure stabilization in heterotic Calabi–Yau compactifications. JHEP 10, 032 (2011). arXiv:1107.5076
- Anderson, L.B., Gray, J., Sharpe, E.: Algebroids, heterotic moduli spaces and the Strominger system. JHEP 1407, 037 (2014). arXiv:1402.1532
- Ossa, X.de la , Svanes, E.E.: Holomorphic Bundles and the Moduli Space of N=1 Supersymmetric Heterotic Compactifications. JHEP 10, 123 (2014). arXiv:1402.1725
- Garcia-Fernandez, M., Rubio, R., Tipler, C.: Infinitesimal moduli for the Strominger system and generalized Killing spinors. Math. Annal. 369(1–2), 539–595 (2017), arXiv:1503.07562
- Candelas, P., Ossa, X.de la, McOrist, J.: A metric for heterotic moduli. Commun. Math. Phys. 356(2), 567–612 (2017). arXiv:1605.05256
- 17. Joyce, D.D.: Compact riemannian 7-manifolds with holonomy G_2 . I. J. Differ. Geom. **43**(2), 291–328 (1996)
- Joyce, D.D.: Compact riemannian 7-manifolds with holonomy G₂. II. J. Differ. Geom. 43(2), 329–375 (1996)
- Joyce, D.D.: Compact Manifolds with Special Holonomy. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2000)
- 20. Hitchin, N.J.: The geometry of three-forms in six and seven dimensions, arXiv:math/0010054
- Gutowski, J., Papadopoulos, G.: Moduli spaces and brane solitons for M theory compactifications on holonomy G(2) manifolds. Nucl. Phys. B 615, 237–265 (2001). arXiv:hep-th/0104105
- Beasley, C., Witten, E.: A note on fluxes and superpotentials in M theory compactifications on manifolds of G(2) holonomy. JHEP 07, 046 (2002). arXiv:hep-th/0203061
- Dai, X., Wang, X., Wei, G.: On the stability of Riemannian manifold with parallel spinors. Invent. Math. 161(1), 151–176 (2005). arXiv:math/0311253
- Boer, J.de, Naqvi, A., Shomer, A.: The topological G(2) string. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 12(2), 243–318 (2008). arXiv:hep-th/0506211
- Karigiannis, S., Conan Leung, N.: Hodge theory for G₂-manifolds: intermediate Jacobians and Abel– Jacobi maps. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 99, 297–325 (2009). arXiv:0709.2987
- Grigorian, S., Yau, S.-T.: Local geometry of the G(2) moduli space. Commun. Math. Phys. 287, 459–488 (2009). arXiv:0802.0723

⁸ It should be noted that the arguments in [75] where for the most part restricted to the Strominger-Hull system, although we expect them to hold true for the heterotic G_2 system as well.

- Donaldson, S., Thomas, R.: Gauge theory in higher dimensions. The Geometric Universe (Oxford, 1996), pp. 31–47 (1998)
- Donaldson, S., Segal, E.: Gauge theory in higher dimensions, II. Surv. Differ. Geom. 16 (2011) arXiv:0902.3239
- 29. Sa Earp, H.N.: Instantons on G₂-manifolds. PhD Thesis, Imperial College London (2009)
- Sá Earp, H.N.: Generalised Chern–Simons theory and G₂-instantons over associative fibrations. SIGMA 10, 083 (2014). arXiv:1401.5462
- 31. Ball, G., Oliveira, G.: Gauge theory on Aloff-Wallach spaces. arXiv:1610.04557 [math.DG]
- 32. Fernández, M., Ugarte, L.: Dolbeault cohomology for G₂-manifolds. Geom. Dedicata **70**(1), 57–86 (1998)
- 33. Gurrieri, S., Lukas, A., Micu, A.: Heterotic on half-flat. Phys. Rev. D 70, 126009 (2004). arXiv:hep-th/0408121
- Carlos, B.de, Gurrieri, S., Lukas, A., Micu, A.: Moduli stabilisation in heterotic string compactifications. JHEP 0603, 005 (2006). arXiv:hep-th/0507173
- Gurrieri, S., Lukas, A., Micu, A.: Heterotic string compactifications on half-flat manifolds II. JHEP 0712, 081 (2007). arXiv:0709.1932
- Held, J., Lust, D., Marchesano, F., Martucci, L.: DWSB in heterotic flux compactifications. JHEP 1006, 090 (2010). arXiv:1004.0867
- Lukas, A., Matti, C.: G-structures and domain walls in heterotic theories. JHEP 1101, 151 (2011). arXiv:1005.5302
- Klaput, M., Lukas, A., Matti, C.: Bundles over nearly-Kahler homogeneous spaces in heterotic string theory. JHEP 1109, 100 (2011). arXiv:1107.3573
- Gray, J., Larfors, M., Lüst, D.: Heterotic domain wall solutions and SU(3) structure manifolds. JHEP 1208, 099 (2012). arXiv:1205.6208
- Klaput, M., Lukas, A., Matti, C., Svanes, E.E.: Moduli stabilising in heterotic nearly Káhler compactifications. JHEP 1301, 015 (2013). arXiv:1210.5933
- Klaput, M., Lukas, A., Svanes, E.E.: Heterotic Calabi-Yau compactifications with flux. JHEP 1309, 034 (2013). arXiv:1305.0594
- Gemmer, K.-P., Lechtenfeld, O.: Heterotic G₂-manifold compactifications with fluxes and fermionic condensates. JHEP 11, 182 (2013). arXiv:1308.1955
- Graña, M., Shahbazi, C.S.: M-theory moduli spaces and torsion-free structures. JHEP 05, 085 (2015). arXiv:1410.8617
- 44. Maxfield, T., Sethi, S.: Domain walls, triples and acceleration. JHEP 1408, 066 (2014). arXiv:1404.2564
- Haupt, A.S., Lechtenfeld, O., Musaev, E.T.: Order α' heterotic domain walls with warped nearly Kähler geometry. JHEP 11, 152 (2014). arXiv:1409.0548
- Minasian, R., Petrini, M., Svanes, E.E.: On heterotic vacua with fermionic expectation values. Fortschr. Phys. 65(3–4) (2017). arXiv:1702.01156
- 47. Chiossi, S., Salamon, S.: The intrinsic torsion of SU(3) and G₂ structures. Differential Geometry, Valencia 2001, World Scientific Publishing, pp. 115–133 (2002). arXiv:math/0202282
- 48. Ossa, X.de la , Larfors, M., Svanes, E.E.: Exploring SU(3) structure moduli spaces with integrable G_2 structures. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 19, 837–903 (2015). arXiv:1409.7539
- Ossa, X.de la, Larfors, M., Svanes, E.E.: Infinitesimal moduli of G₂ holonomy manifolds with instanton bundles. JHEP 11, 016 (2016). arXiv:1607.0347
- Carrion, R.R.: Some Special Geometries Defined by Lie Groups. PhD Thesis, University of Oxford (1993)
- 51. Carrión, R.R.: A generalization of the notion of instanton. Differ. Geom. Appl. 8(1), 1–20 (1998)
- 52. Atiyah, M.F.: Complex analytic connections in fibre bundles. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. **85**(1), 181–207 (1957)
- Becker, K., Tseng, L.-S.: Heterotic flux compactifications and their moduli. Nucl. Phys. B 741, 162– 179 (2006). arXiv:hep-th/0509131
- Becker, M., Tseng, L.-S., Yau, S.-T.: Moduli space of torsional manifolds. Nucl. Phys. B 786, 119– 134 (2007). arXiv:hep-th/0612290
- de la Ossa, X., Larfors, M., Svanes, E.E.: Finite deformations of heterotic compactifications on integrable
 G₂ manifolds—To Appear
- Clarke, A., Garcia-Fernandez, M., Tipler, C.: Moduli of G₂ structures and the Strominger system in dimension 7, arXiv:1607.01219
- 57. Bryant, R.L.: Metrics with exceptional holonomy. Ann. Math. (2) 126(3), 525–576 (1987)
- Bonan, E.: Sur les varietes riemanniennes a groupe d'holonomie G₂ ou spin(7). C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 262, 127–129 (1966)
- Fernández, M., Gray, A.: Riemannian manifolds with structure group G₂. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 32, 19– 45 (1982)
- Bryant, R.L.: Some remarks on G(2)-structures. In: S. Akbulut et al. (eds.) Proceedings of Gokova Geomenty-Topology Conference 2005, pp. 75–109. International Press (2006). arXiv:math/0305124
- 61. Huybrechts, D.: Complex Geometry an Introduction. Springer, Berlin (2005)

- 62. Manetti, M.: Differential graded lie algebras and formal deformation theory, algebraic geometry: seattle 2005. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 80, 785–810 (2009)
- 63. Kontsevich, M., Soibelman, Y.: Deformation Theory. Unpublished Book
- Nicola, A.De, Yudin, I.: Covariant Lie derivatives and Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket on Lie algebroids. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 12(9), 1560018 (2015). arXiv:1412.2533
- 65. Tian, G.: Gauge theory and calibrated geometry, I. Ann. Math. 151, 193–268 (2000). arXiv:math/0010015
- Harland, D., Ivanova, T.A., Lechtenfeld, O., Popov, A.D.: Yang–Mills flows on nearly Kahler manifolds and G(2)-instantons. Commun. Math. Phys. 300, 185–204 (2010). arXiv:0909.2730
- 67. Bauer, I., Ivanova, T.A., Lechtenfeld, O., Lubbe, F.: Yang–Mills instantons and dyons on homogeneous *G*₂-manifolds. J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 44 (2010). arXiv:1006.2388
- 68. Harland, D., Nolle, C.: Instantons and Killing spinors. JHEP 1203, 082 (2012). arXiv:1109.3552
- Ivanova, T.A., Popov, A.D.: Instantons on special holonomy manifolds. Phys. Rev. D 85, 105012 (2012). arXiv:1203.2657
- 70. Bunk, S.: A method of deforming G-structures. J. Geom. Phys. 96, 72–80 (2015). arXiv:1410.5849
- Bunk, S., Ivanova, T.A., Lechtenfeld, O., Popov, A.D., Sperling, M.: Instantons on sine-cones over Sasakian manifolds. Phys. Rev. D 90(6), 065028 (2014). arXiv:1407.2948
- Huang, T.: Stable Yang–Mills connections on special holonomy manifolds. ArXiv e-prints (November 2015) arXiv:1511.04928
- 73. Charbonneau, B., Harland, D.: Deformations of nearly Kähler instantons. Commun. Math. Phys. 348(3), 959–990 (2016). arXiv:1510.07720
- 74. Muñoz, V., Shahbazi, C.S.: Construction of the moduli space of Spin(7)-instantons, arXiv:1611.04127
- 75. Ossa, X.de la , Svanes, E.E.: Connections, field redefinitions and heterotic supergravity, JHEP 12, 008 (2014). arXiv:1409.3347
- 76. McOrist, J.: On the effective field theory of heterotic vacua, arXiv:1606.05221
- Bergshoeff, E., Roo, M.de: The quartic effective action of the heterotic string and supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys. B 328(2), 439–468 (1989)
- Ossa, X.de la , Hardy, E., Svanes, E.E.: The heterotic superpotential and moduli. JHEP 01, 049 (2016). arXiv:1509.0872
- Coimbra, A., Minasian, R., Triendl, H., Waldram, D.: Generalised geometry for string corrections. JHEP 11, 160 (2014). arXiv:1407.7542
- 80. Green, M.B., Schwarz, J.H.: Anomaly cancellations in supersymmetric d = 10 gauge theory and superstring theory. Phys. Lett. B **149**(1), 117–122 (1984)
- Green, M.B., Schwarz, J.H., Witten, E.: Superstring Theory: Vol. 2: Loop Amplitudes, Anomalies and Phenomenology. Cambridge University Press (1987)
- Ivanov, S.: Heterotic supersymmetry, anomaly cancellation and equations of motion. Phys. Lett. B 685, 190–196 (2010). arXiv:0908.2927
- 83. Gauntlett, J.P., Martelli, D., Pakis, S., Waldram, D.: *G* structures and wrapped NS5-branes. Commun. Math. Phys. **247**, 421–445 (2004). arXiv:hep-th/0205050
- 84. Hull, C., Townsend, P.: World-sheet supersymmetry and anomaly cancellation in the heterotic string. Phys. Lett. B 178, 187–192 (1986)
- 85. Sen, A.: (2, 0) supersymmetry and space-time supersymmetry in the heterotic string theory. Nucl. Phys. B **278**(2), 289–308 (1986)
- 86. Hull, C.: Anomalies, ambiguities and superstrings. Phys. Lett. B 167(1), 51-55 (1986)
- 87. Hull, C.: Compactifications of the heterotic superstring. Phys. Lett. B. 178(4), 357–364 (1986)
- 88. Howe, P.S., Papadopoulos, G.: Anomalies in two-dimensional supersymmetric nonlinear sigma models. Class. Quantum Grav. 4(6), 1749 (1987)
- 89. Becker, K., Sethi, S.: Torsional heterotic geometries. Nucl. Phys. B 820, 1-31 (2009). arXiv:0903.3769
- Melnikov, I.V., Minasian, R., Theisen, S.: Heterotic flux backgrounds and their IIA duals. JHEP 1407, 023 (2014). arXiv:1206.1417
- 91. Melnikov, I.V., Quigley, C., Sethi, S., Stern, M.: Target spaces from chiral gauge theories. JHEP 1302, 111 (2013). arXiv:1212.1212
- Melnikov, I.V., Minasian, R., Sethi, S.: Heterotic fluxes and supersymmetry. JHEP 1406, 174 (2014). arXiv:1403.4298